University of New Mexico UNM Digital Repository

Pharmaceutical Sciences ETDs

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

8-27-2012

Quitting patterns and success rates of a tobacco cessation program led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation

Xian Shen

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/phrm_etds

Recommended Citation

Shen, Xian. "Quitting patterns and success rates of a tobacco cessation program led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation." (2012). https://digitalrepository.unm.edu/phrm_etds/11

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at UNM Digital Repository. It has been accepted for inclusion in Pharmaceutical Sciences ETDs by an authorized administrator of UNM Digital Repository. For more information, please contact disc@unm.edu.

Xian Shen

Candidate

Pharmacy Practice and Administrative Sciences

Department

This thesis is approved, and it is acceptable in quality and form for publication:

Approved by the Thesis Committee:

Dennis Raisch , Chairperson

Joe Anderson

Amy Bachyrycz

Quitting Patterns and Success Rates of a Tobacco Cessation Program Led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation

by

Xian Shen, BS

THESIS

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the

Requirements for the Degree of

Master of Science

Pharmaceutical Sciences

The University of New Mexico

Albuquerque, New Mexico

July, 2012

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I heartily thank Dr. Dennis Raisch, my academic advisor and committee chair, for his continuous encouragement and support for my academic development in the past two years. His enthusiastic and rigorous attitude towards research has been a constant inspiration for me to pursue a career in health services and outcomes research. Thank you, Dr. Raisch, for always being available for me when I need guidance. The way you think about a research subject is one of the most valuable assets that I have been striving to gain through graduate study. Thank you so much for being such a strong role model and mentor.

I would like to acknowledge my committee members, Dr. Joe Anderson and Dr. Amy Bachyrycz, for their input and guidance throughout this entire project. Thank you for sharing with me your clinical expertise in the area of tobacco cessation.

This project could have not been carried out without the support from New Mexico Pharmacists Association (NMPhA). I especially would like to thank Mr. Dale Tinker, executive director of NMPhA. His support was crucial for the completion of this study. I would also like to thank the pharmacists for their participation in the interview and willingness to share their experience with the program.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents for their unconditional love. I thank them for encouraging me, believing in me, and supporting me in all my decisions.

iii

Quitting Patterns and Success Rates of a Tobacco Cessation Program Led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation

By

Xian Shen

B.S., Pharmacy, China Pharmaceutical University, 2010 M.S., Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of New Mexico, 2012

ABSTRACT

The objective of the present study was to assess the effectiveness of a pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation program led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation (NMPCF) and to characterize participants' quitting patterns during the study period.

Data from the program from 2004 to 2011 consisting of 1486 participants were combined for analysis. Point prevalence quit rates were calculated and survival analysis was performed to evaluate program effectiveness. A qualitative case study with participating pharmacists was conducted to explore intervention elements that could impact participants' likelihood of successfully quitting tobacco. Four quitting patterns were defined including immediate quitters, delayed quitters, once quitters, or never quitters. Multinomial logistic regression was performed to identify patient characteristics associated with quitting patterns.

The average point prevalence quit rate at 6 months was 18.7%. The average abstinent time was 76.8 days (standard error = 3.59 days). The

probability of a patient being continuously abstinent for 7 days was 89.1%, while the likelihood of being abstinent for 30 days and 180 days were 46.0% and 16.5%, respectively. Patients who were under 18 years old, less educated, less dependent on nicotine, and had higher confidence to quit were more likely to be immediate quitters rather than never quitters.

Pharmacists are capable of delivering tobacco cessation services. Patients' likelihood of quitting tobacco depends both on themselves and the intervention they receive. Intensive counseling and close follow-up are important elements of an effective tobacco cessation intervention. Different quitting patterns exist among patients. Patients with different quitting patterns have distinctive characteristics in terms of level of nicotine dependence, pharmacotherapy used, motivational factors and demographic factors. Interventions need to be tailored for patients with different quitting patterns.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF FIGURES viii
LIST OF TABLESix
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION1
Background and problem statement1
Study question, specific aims and hypotheses7
CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW9
Effectiveness of pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation programs 10
Quitting patterns14
Significant predictors of successful abstinence
Summary of literature reviews26
CHAPTER 3 METHODS
Data source
Quit rates
Survival analysis
Quitting patterns and transitions32
Elements of a successful tobacco cessation program
Data cleaning and re-categorization36
Statistical analyses
Informed consent
CHAPTER 4 RESULTS
Quit rates
Survival analysis54
Quitting patterns and transitions67
Elements of a successful tobacco cessation program
CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS
Discussion of results89
Study limitations
Study strengths
Conclusions101
APPENDICES

APPENDIX A	
APPENDIX B	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Schematic for Assigning Time of Abstinence	31
Figure 2 Categorization of Patients Based on Quitting Pattern and Transition	33
Figure 3 Point Prevalence Quit Rates by Year	52
Figure 4 Point Prevalence Quit Rates by Pharmacy	53
Figure 5 Kaplan-Meier Survival CurveAll Patients (n=1486)	57
Figure 6 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve by Age Group (n=1382)	61
Figure 7 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve by Pharmacotherapy (n=1353)	62
Figure 8 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve by Tobacco Use in the Past 30 Days	
(n=1380)	63

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Summary of Pharmacists-assisted Tobacco Cessation Programs from
Literature12
Table 2 Statistical Tests Performed40
Table 3 Characteristics of Included Participants from NMPCF Tobacco Cessation
Program47
Table 4 Assignment of Time of Abstinence
Table 5 Kaplan-Meier Survival AnalysisResults of Log Rank Tests60
Table 6 Multivariate AnalysisResults of Cox Proportional Hazard Model
(excluding interactions with time)65
Table 7 Multivariate AnalysisResults of Cox Proportional Hazard Model
(including interactions with time)66
Table 8 Quitting Patterns and Transitions of Included Participants from NMPCF
Tobacco Cessation Program68
Table 9 Univariate AnalysisCharacteristics of Immediate Quitters, Delayed
Quitters, and Once Quitters compared to Never Quitters70
Table 10 Multivariate AnalysisCharacteristics of Immediate Quitters, Delayed
Quitters, and Once Quitters compared to Never Quitters (pharmacy stores
excluded)75
Table 11 Multivariate AnalysisCharacteristics of Immediate Quitters, Delayed
Quitters, and Once Quitters compared to Never Quitters (pharmacy stores
included)78
Table 12 Comparison of Excluded Patients Due to Missing Information with
Patients Included in Multivariate Analysis81

Chapter 1 Introduction

Background and problem statement

Tobacco use is a known cause of multiple cancers, heart disease, stroke, complications of pregnancy, and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD).¹ It remains the chief avoidable cause of death in the United States, accounting for more than 435,000 deaths each year.² Furthermore, smoking results in approximately \$100 billion in health care costs and another \$97 billion in lost productivity in the United States every year.³ Despite the well acknowledged harms of smoking and its economic burden, the 2006 National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) suggested that the prevalence of cigarette smoking among the U.S. adults was approximately 21%.⁴ Smokers are aware of the health dangers of tobacco use and struggles to quit the habit. Around 70% of the smokers who participated in 2000 NHIS reported that they wanted to quit, and 41% had tried to quit during the preceding year.⁵ Another study showed that almost two thirds of smokers who did not successfully quit were interested in trying to quit again within 30 days.⁶

However, quitting using tobacco is a difficult task with multiple barriers. Weight gain, craving for smoking, loss of pleasure, stress and depression after quitting as well as being around smokers, have been reported as the most common reasons for relapse.^{7, 8 9, 10} Overcoming these barriers without health professionals intervention and pharmaceutical aid is challenging. There has been evidence showing that patients who received advice and assistance for quitting

tobacco during their physician visits had better satisfaction about their care¹¹ and smokers take physicians' advice as an important motivator for attempting to quit.¹² A meta-analysis from Cochrane showed that success rates of self-help interventions ranged from 2% to 10%, which were slightly higher than that of no intervention (pooled relative risk=1.21; 95% C.I. 1.05-1.39). ¹³ Another meta-analysis indicated that behavioral interventions delivered by health care providers were more effective compared to interventions where no health professional was involved. More importantly, the success of interventions did not differ by type of clinician. Physicians (estimated quit rate=15.8%; 95% C.I. 12.8%–18.8%) were almost equally successful in helping smokers quit.¹⁴

Strategies of interventions have been designed to assist clinicians with counseling both smokers who are ready to quit and smokers who are reluctant to quit. The 2008 Clinical Practice Guideline for Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence recommends a brief clinician led intervention to be offered to all tobacco users using the "5 A's" strategy (Ask, Advice, Assess, Assist, Arrange). For patients who are unwilling to quit, a clinician should provide a motivational intervention, consisting of five major components ("5 R's", relevant, risk, rewards, roadblocks, repetition). In addition to brief counseling, the guideline also recommends tobacco cessation products be offered to all smokers attempting to quit except when contraindicated and for specific populations among whom the effectiveness of the products is unclear. A combination of counseling and

pharmacotherapy is more effective than counseling alone or pharmacotherapy alone. ¹⁴ First-line agents, including bupropion sustained-release (bupropion SR), nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), and varenicline, are effective in a broad range of populations.^{15, 16}

Despite the potential contributions that clinicians could make to tobacco cessation and the availability of well-developed interventions, counseling on tobacco cessation does not take place in day-to-day health care settings. According to the National Committee for Quality Assurance's (NCQA) 2007 State of Health Care Quality Report, 73.8% commercially insured smokers and 68.2% Medicaid smokers received advice to guit in 2006. Counseling about guitting only happened to 43.2% commercially insured smokers and 36.7% Medicaid smokers.¹⁷ Physician counseling occurred in 21% of smokers' visits in 2003¹⁸ and lack of time was reported as a central barrier to counseling by physicians.¹⁹ Compared to physicians and other clinicians, pharmacists are relatively more accessible to patients.²⁰ Their unique position in the health care system allows them to identify smokers who are willing to quit and assist them throughout the quitting process. Pharmacists in New Mexico have been granted more authority and might play even a greater role in tobacco cessation than their peers in other states. With an approved protocol, they could prescribe tobacco cessation products, which makes it possible for them to help tobacco users quit more directly.²¹ More importantly, pharmacists are also interested in providing tobacco cessation services and see it as an important activity of their profession.^{22, 23} In

order to strengthen pharmacist's capability of counseling tobacco use, efforts such as the Rx for Change program have been established to expand tobacco cessation training among pharmacy students as well as licensed pharmacists.²⁴ The Rx for Change curriculum has been disseminated to pharmacy schools throughout the U.S. and has already obtained acceptance and positive feedback.²⁵

Studies have been conducted to demonstrate the effectiveness of pharmacistsled tobacco cessation interventions. A Cochrane review identified two randomized controlled trials of pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation programs in U.K., which showed a continuous abstinent rate of 18.5% at 6 month and 12.0% at 9 month, respectively. ²⁶ Observational studies with varying designs of intervention have also demonstrated the effectiveness of pharmacists-delivered services.²⁷ A successful quit depends on the smoker as well as the intervention received. While characteristics of successful quitters have been extensively studied in various populations, the impact of intervention elements on one's likelihood of success remains understudied. A few studies compared interventions using quantitative approaches. Elements including intensity of counseling, format of counseling and number of counseling formats adopted, combination of counseling and medication, and intervention setting have been shown to be associated with success rates. ^{14, 28, 29} Nevertheless, research on intra-intervention level, aiming to understand within-study difference, is rare. We have very limited knowledge on the reasons why some clinicians are more

successful in helping smokers quit than others in the same cessation program and their perception of their success.

While guit rates of various interventions have been reported previously, the process of guitting remains understudied. Few studies have presented a comprehensive picture of how patients' post-intervention smoking behaviors changed over time or how the final point prevalence guit rate was reached.³⁰ The transtheoretical model of change (TTM) is the most widely known theory of health behavior change and has been applied to guide tobacco cessation. It proposes that tobacco users move through 5 stages before they successfully achieve abstinence.³¹ The stages are "precontemplation" (not thinking about quitting), "contemplation" (thinking about quitting), "preparation" (planning to quit in the next 30 days), "action" (quitting successfully for up to six months), and "maintenance" (no tobacco use for more than six months). The process of quitting tobacco is complicated, during which patients might return from advanced stages like "action" to earlier stages such as "preparation". Moreover, patients in the "preparation", "action", or "maintenance" stage of quitting would require different types of support from those in "precontemplation" or contemplation". Therefore, quitting tobacco is a process that requires interventions tailored to patients' stage of quitting and it also takes repeated efforts to reinforce treatment effects. Point prevalence quit rate does not represent such a continued and complex process. In order to better understand the process of quitting and improve future interventions, quitting patterns and

smokers' transitions in smoking behaviors that emerge during the quitting process need to be evaluated in more details. Predicting tobacco users' quitting pattern and transitions will also provide clinicians with more information about how patients move between the stages after/during intervention, which in turn, will help them better assist patients in quitting tobacco.

Study question, specific aims and hypotheses

The primary objective of the present study was to assess the effectiveness of a pharmacists-assisted tobacco use cessation program led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation (NMPCF) and to characterize participants' quitting patterns during the study period. We proposed four specific aims to be accomplished by this study.

<u>Aim 1:</u> To calculate 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months point prevalence quit rates of the NMPCF tobacco cessation program.

<u>Aim 2:</u> To study participants' probability of being continuously abstinent and their quitting experience over time.

Hypothesis 1: Participants' likelihood of being continuous abstinent was associated with patient characteristics including age, gender, ethnicity, education level, tobacco use, past quitting attempt, pharmacotherapy use, nicotine dependence, confidence to quit, and importance to quit.

<u>*Aim 3:*</u> To identify quitting patterns among participants and compare participants of different quitting patterns with respect to pharmacotherapy use and other baseline characteristics.

Hypothesis 2: Participants' quitting patterns were related to patient characteristics including age, gender, ethnicity, education level, tobacco use, past quitting attempt, pharmacotherapy use, nicotine dependence, confidence to quit, and importance to quit.

<u>Aim 4:</u> To assess the variation in success rates among pharmacy stores, and to explore elements of effective tobacco cessation services.

Hypothesis 3: Pharmacy stores had varying point prevalence quit rates at 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months.

Hypothesis 4: Quit rates were affected by intervention elements such as intensity of intervention sessions, frequency of follow-ups, and format of counseling.

Chapter 2 Literature review

Three systematic Medline reviews, with respective focus on effectiveness of pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation interventions, quitting patterns, and significant predictors of successful abstinence, were performed. The search strategies and the existing literature were summarized for each topic.

Effectiveness of pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation programs

The literature search was performed up to January, 2012, restricting to English and human literature. The MeSH term "pharmacists" was combined with the MeSH term "tobacco use cessation" in the search. Original studies on pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation programs with data analysis of quit rate(s) were eligible. We also added studies from reference lists of reviews. Interventions in which pharmacists did not take an active role were excluded. Editorials and perspective articles were excluded. The search produced 69 citations, among which 6 original studies and 2 reviews were identified. Another three original studies were identified from the reviews. Included studies were summarized by intervention, outcome and sample size (Table 1). Compared to the other programs, the one offered by Missoula Veteran Affair Veteran Health Administration outpatient clinic in Missoula, Montana achieved extremely high long-term abstinence rate.³² The program was administered by a pharmacy specialist and offered about 4 to 5 times per year depending on the number of referred patients. One hundred and thirty veterans participated in the program during 2001-2003. At the follow-up telephone surveys completed in June and December of 2001, 2002, and 2003, 41.5% of them continued to be abstinent after the end of the program with 54 for 6 months, 42 for 1 year, 27 for 2 years, 20 for 3 years, and 4 for 4 years. The success was related to the proper design and delivery of the program. Before admitting veterans into the group class sessions, an initial assessment of their motivation to guit was conducted and a one-to-one motivational counseling using 5"Rs" was delivered if the veteran was

in precontemplation and unwilling to quit. Moreover, the 3 group class sessions were designed based on the Transtheoretical Model of Change with specific focus on preparing smokers to quit, assisting smokers to take action, and helping them to maintain abstinence. Pharmaceutical aids were also offered to participants without any charges in conjunction with the group counseling sessions. This was a perfect example proving that pharmacists could deliver effective tobacco cessation services given the intervention was well planned and designed based on evidence.

Reference	Number of	Intervention	Outcome
	participants		
Zillich et al (Pharmacothepray 2002)	31 self- referred	Weekly group session for 12 weeks led by pharmacist(s); nicotine replacement therapy (NRT) paid by participants; follow-up via phone	*Verified abstinence at 3 and 6 months: 42% and 26%
Roth et al (Pharmacotherapy 2001)	71 referred by physician	Counseling with clinical pharmacist; educational booklet; bupropion SR; phone follow-up; 3 clinic visits	Self-reported continuous abstinence at 8 weeks and 6 months: 15.5% and 9.9%
Kennedy et al (J Am Pharm Assoc 2002)	48 identified by community pharmacist or referred by physician	Counseling with community pharmacist; pharmacotherapy paid by participants; face-to-face visits/phone follow-up	Self-reported continuous abstinence at 12 months: 25%
Smith et al (Am Pharm 1995)	2,001 participated in the Pharmacists Educating Patients Program	Counseling with pharmacist; NRT (transdermal)	Self-reported abstinence at 10 months: 33%
Bauld et al (Nicotine & Tob Res 2011)	1374 invited by letter	One-to-one counseling with pharmacist for 12 weeks; pharmacotherapy;	*Verified continuous abstinence at 52 weeks: 3.6%
Costello et al (Cancer Causes Control 2011)	3588	3 sessions of pharmacists- led behavioral intervention; 5 weeks NRT	Self-reported point prevalence abstinence rate at 7 day: 27.7%
Maguire et al (Addition 2001)	484 enrolled by pharmacists	Booklet and a one-to-one counseling with pharmacist at baseline; weekly follow-up for 4 weeks and then monthly for 3 months with pharmacist	*Verified continuous abstinence at 12 months: 14.3%
Roth et al (Pharmacotherpy 2005)	198 referred by physician	Tailored behavioral counseling with pharmacist; educational materials; pharmacotherapy; follow-up via phone/visit	Self-reported continuous abstinence rate for NRT and bupropion SR: 22.9% and 7.7%
Dent et al (J Am Pharm Assoc 2004)	130 veteran self-referred or referred by physician	3 session counseling using the Transtheoretical Model of Change with pharmacist; pharmacotherapy	Self-reported continued abstinence (6 months-4 year): 41.5%

Table 1 Summary of Pharmacists-assisted Tobacco Cessation Programs from Literature

*Verified by exhaled carbon monoxide test or continine

Comparing the interventions and outcomes of these 9 studies, group sessions and intensive interventions appeared to be more effective than interventions conducted individually or without close follow-up. However, the observed difference could also be associated with differences in study samples. The success rate of the program reported by Zillich et al³³ was more than 5 times higher than that of the program reported by Bauld et al³⁴. However, the participants in the program Zillich et al described seemed to be more motivated to quit compared to the participants in the other program. On average they had tried to quit 3.2 times and paid for pharmacotherapy by themselves. None of the 9 studies analyzed time to relapse or presented quit rate on a longitudinal basis.

<u>Quitting patterns</u>

The literature search was conducted up to January, 2012, restricting to English and human literature. The MeSH term "tobacco use cessation" was combined with the keywords "pattern*" and "quit". We were interested in studies assessing quitting patterns or relapse patterns during or after a tobacco cessation intervention. Studies concentrating on smoking patterns or usage patterns of medications, services or programs were excluded. The search gave 296 citations and abstracts were reviewed to determine the eligibility of each article. We identified 4 studies evaluating quitting or relapse patterns and 1 study assessing reduction pattern.

Gonzales et al pooled data from two identically designed clinical trials of varenicline versus bupropion sustained-release and placebo, and described two types of successful quitters, which were immediate quitters (IQ) and delayed quitters (DQ).³⁰ In both trials, participants received 12-week treatment and were followed up for 52 weeks. The primary end-point of the trials was continuous abstinence for weeks 9-12 and the target quit date (TQD) was day 8 followed the first week treatment. IQ achieved initial abstinence immediately on the day 8 TQD and remained continuously abstinent for weeks 2–12. QD were those who quit later than the TQD or those who experienced lapses between TQD and week 9, but were then able to achieve continuous abstinence for weeks 9–12. They found that the proportion of DQ among successful quitters was similar across treatments and DQ were less likely to remain abstinent at 52 weeks

compared to IQ. Hajek et al analyzed data from a clinical trial of 12-week extended treatment of varienicline and showed that DQ were more likely to benefit from the extended treatment compared to IQ.³⁵ They randomized a total of 1208 IQ and DQ who were abstinent at least for the last week of a 12-week varenicline treatment to either 3 months continued treatment with varenicline or placebo. The extended course of varienicline was effective in preventing DQ from relapse at 52-week (odds ratio (OR)=1.7, 95% confidence interval (95% C.I.): 1.2-2.4), but such effect was not seen among IQ (OR=1.1, 95% C.I.: 0.8-1.5). In addition, they also found smokers who initially delayed to achieve abstinence to be more likely to relapse at 52-week after adjusting baseline characteristics as Gonzales et al described. The results of above two studies indicate that DQ need prolonged treatment to reinforce treatment effects. This information is valuable for tailoring individualized interventions and improving effectiveness as well as efficiency of future programs. Both of the studies were restricted to pharmacotherapy and the generalizability of these findings to other tobacco cessation interventions was not clear.

There also have been studies evaluating patterns of smoking reduction, lapses during quitting attempts, and resumption after relapse. Estabrooks et al concluded that initial successful reduction was associated with final success.⁹ Conklin et al identified 4 patterns of smoking resumption after relapse including low-lever users, moderate users, slow returners, and quick returners. ³⁶ Ussher et al found that patients using 16 hour nicotine patches were more likely to lapse

during afternoons and evenings than in mornings (p<.0001).³⁷ Of the 5 studies identified, only Gonzales et al presented the baseline characteristics of IQ, DQ, and all sample, but no extensive analysis was done to characterize the two patterns they defined.

Significant predictors of successful abstinence

The literature search was conducted up to January, 2012, restricting to English and human literature. The MeSH term "tobacco use cessation" was combined with the keyword "predictors", "reasons", or "characteristics". We limited the search to studies that evaluated characteristics of successful guitters or elements of effective interventions. The search yielded 595 citations and the abstract of each article was reviewed to determine the eligibility of articles. We excluded studies on smoking behaviors, characteristics of smokers, effectiveness or utilization of interventions, services or pharmacotherapies, and reasons, intention, motivation, or attempts to guit. In order to increase relevance of the review to the present proposal, studies focused on a particular population such as cancer patients or pregnant women were further excluded as well as studies whose sample consisted of smokers who did not attempt to quit. Ninety-one studies met the above inclusion criteria. With exception of two studies evaluating intervention elements, almost all the studies focused on identifying characteristics of successful guitters. Eight domains of predictors were identified from the literature. Non-significant predictors were not included in the following discussion.

1) Use of pharmacotherapy

Tobacco cessation products approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) include NRT, bupropion sustained release (Zyban®, Wellbutrin®), and varenicline tartrate(Chantix®).³⁸ Other than clinical trials specifically designed to study efficacy of tobacco cessation products³⁹⁻⁴²,

prior evaluations of tobacco cessation programs also demonstrated that use of pharmacotherapy was effective and independently predicted successful cessation. Results from a behavioral intervention among elderly smokers showed that smokers who used NRT were 4.36 more likely to guit than those who did not receive NRT.⁴³ Adherence was low among smokers who were using NRT to quit, but adherence to NRT was found to be predictive of successful cessation.⁴⁴ A retrospective analysis of abstinence outcomes of enrollees of a quitline service showed that smokers who used varenicline tartrate were 1.85 times more likely to guit at 3 month follow-up compared to smokers who used NRT after controlling for age, gender, previous amount of tobacco use, and number of counseling calls.⁴⁵ In a study of 285 patients who attended a tobacco cessation clinic, patients in the bupropion sustained release (SR) group had 2.89 times increased odds of being continuously abstinent at 6 month compared to those in the placebo group.⁴⁶ Other studies also found use of bupropion SR independently predictive of tobacco cessation.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹

2) Nicotine dependence

A couple of variables have been used as measures of nicotine dependence including score of Fagerstrom Test of Nicotine Dependence (FTND), age when first started smoking, average number of cigarettes per day, and time to first cigarette after waking. FTND is a validated questionnaire used to measure smokers' level of nicotine dependence,

which consists of six items (see Appendix A for the full questionnaire).⁵⁰ Scoring per item is either a two or four level response with values 0, 1, 2, or 3. Items are summed and the possible scores range from 0 to 10. Previous studies categorized FTND differently, but it has been consistently found to be independently predictive of successful guits in various studies.⁵¹⁻⁵⁴ In a non-randomized clinical trial, participants who with FTND score greater than 8 were 1.63 times more unlikely to succeed in guitting smoking at 1 year compared to those with FTND score less than 4.⁵³ Number of cigarettes consumed per day and time to first cigarette after waking are two components of FTND. Both of them have been shown to be indicative of likelihood of successfully quitting tobacco use.^{46, 55-61} An analysis of a behavioral intervention in Italy found that smokers who initiated smoking after 18 years old were 1.65 times more likely to guit at 1 year than other after adjusting for previous attempts, number of cigarettes, education level, and age.⁵⁷ Another study in Finland found starting at a late age to be a significant predictor in male smokers, but not in female smokers.⁵⁶

3) Health perception and comorbidities

Health has been cited as the most predominant reason for wanting to quit in surveys.⁶²⁻⁶⁴ A survey among German industrial employees was conducted to study reasons of attempting to quit. Of 360 employees who were in contemplation or preparation stage, 94% of them stated health

risks as the reason for quitting, which predominated financial (27%) or image-related (14%) reasons.⁶⁴ A study conducted among an elderly, lowincome population Lebanon showed that having at least one chronic illness and having a functional disability significantly increased the odds of smoking cessation.⁶⁵ Experiencing a health-related problem might change patients' smoking behavior. In a group of smokers who were newly diagnosed with head and neck cancer in Florida, 62% of them planned to quit smoking in the next 3 months ⁶⁶, which is 20% higher than the national percentage.⁵ A study of 717 smokers treated at an emergency department (ED) revealed that having a smoking-related event, such as a diagnosis of respiratory diseases, predicted 7-day abstinence within one month after controlling for nicotine dependence, self-efficacy, and other smoking-related variables, while presence of a smoking-related disease was not a significant predictor.⁶⁷ Another study even found having a smoking-related disease was inversely related to abstinence at 7-week⁵¹, although diagnosis of smoking-related diseases has been identified as a strong trigger of smoking cessation.⁶⁸

The role, which depressive symptoms or history of depression plays in quitting process, is in dispute. Several studies have demonstrated that smokers having depressive symptoms or a history of major depressive disorders were less likely to quit smoking than others^{47, 49, 69}, while a meta-analysis, which included 15 studies, showed that a lifetime history of major

depression was not related to failure in smoking cessation treatment.⁷⁰ Interaction between a tobacco cessation program, targeting rural teenage smokers, and depression was suggested.⁷¹

4) Psychological factors

Previous studies have demonstrated that self-efficacy of smokers, and their confidence and degree of motivation to guit are predictive of smoking cessation. Typically, smokers' self-efficacy is defined as confidence in ability to refrain from smoking in negative affect situations such as being with a smoker, and in habitual or craving situations.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ In a study of loweducated women who received a brief cessation intervention, 1 point increase on a 4-point scale of self-efficacy was associated with doubling odds of smoking cessation at one week.⁷⁵ In some studies confidence to quit at this time was used as a measure of self-efficacy and found to be predictive of quitting as well.^{44, 76, 77} A study using a French measure of motivation (Q-MAT) indicated that smokers with a score greater than 17 were 1.63 times more likely to guit than others.⁵¹ A gualitative study that followed 15 adolescent smokers over 3 months found that reasons of quitting were not equally motivating and successful quitters usually had greater motivation.78

5) Previous attempts

A study of a 5-week group behavioral intervention found that attempting to quit in the past was associated with 1.49 times increased odds of being abstinent at 6 month post-intervention.⁵⁷ Duration of past attempts has also been found to be associated with current success after adjusting for nicotine dependence, use of pharmacotherapy and demographic characteristics, with longer previous attempt being indicative of success of current attempt.^{51, 59, 69, 79}

6) Social influence

A study of 1,335 adolescent smokers from six European countries assessed the impact of social influence, measured by three scales representing influences from family, friends, and others in the same school, on smoking behaviors. ⁸⁰ Each scale included 3 domains: a) social norm, which assessed adolescents' perceptions of whether it was important what others thought (that they definitely should smoke or should not smoke); 2) social pressure, which measured how often direct pressure to smoke was perceived by adolescents; 3) perceived smoking behavior of others (how many of social acquaintances smoked). The study showed that depending on the country, social influences from family, friends and others in the same school_were related to adolescent smokers' perception of smoking, intention to quit, and successful quitting at 6 month. Other studies also found that those with a social network discouraging smoking were more

likely to quit.^{81, 82} Lack of social support has been identified as a trigger of relapse.⁸³ A study of 1790 nurses using an online tobacco cessation service showed that quitters were more likely to report support from colleagues, working at a smoking-free facility, and having cessation services at workplace.⁸⁴ Not only smokers' work environment, but also their environment at home affects the likelihood of quitting. The presence of a non-smoking partner or a partner who quits smoking significantly predicts a smoker's quitting behavior.^{39, 73, 85-87} Moreover, adoption of smoking ban at home was also suggested to be effective in assisting smokers to quit and preventing relapse.^{82, 88-90}

7) Demographic factors

Previous studies also showed that smokers' demographic and socioeconomic characteristics were associated to chance of success. A large number of studies included age in analysis and consistently found that smokers with older age were more likely to quit than others. ^{45, 47, 61, 69, 79, 81, 88, 91-94} Being married was also consistently found to be associated with cessation. ⁵¹ Studies on gender difference in likelihood of quitting had discrepant findings with the majority of the studies indicating that males were more likely to quit ^{92, 43, 57, 69, 94, 95}. The literature also suggests smokers with higher education level, income and social class are more likely to quit. ^{44, 56, 59, 73, 93}

8) Intervention elements

We only identified two studies that evaluated the impact of intervention characteristics on effectiveness of tobacco use cessation services. Both studies assessed the smoking cessation services provided under the National Health Service in UK, but with different analytic approaches. Brose et al pooled the data from 126, 890 treatment episodes in the English network of stop-smoking services (SSSs) and each treatment episode was a unit of analysis.²⁹ The characteristics examined included setting, medication, and type of support. After adjustment for smokers' characteristics, they found substantial variation in success rate across service characteristics. Single NRT was associated with higher success rates than no medication (OR 1.75, 95% CI 1.39 to 2.22). Combination of NRT and varenicline was more effective than single NRT. Group support was linked to higher success rates than one-to-one support (OR 1.43, 95%) CI 1.16 to 1.76). Primary care settings were less successful than specialist clinics (OR 0.80, 95% CI 0.66 to 0.99). In contrast to Brose et al, the investigators of the other study assessed the association between service characteristics and quit rates on a service-level instead of a treatment episode level. A survey was sent out to 133 service coordinators to obtain information on service characteristics, areas where services were offered, and outcomes of services measured by number of smokers reached and cessation rate.²⁸ The final analysis included 76 services and considerable variation in cessation rates was found across services. They used

ordinary least squares regression to characterize the relationships between outcomes and area and service characteristics. Services in health action zones, which were located in areas of high deprivation, reached on average 140% more smokers than those in other parts of the country. Services with strong relationship with local primary care organizations reached more smokers. Number of intervention sessions, group intervention, and strong relationship with local primary care organizations were positively related to cessation rate, while services operating in deprived areas achieved a lower cessation rate.

Summary of literature reviews

The purpose of the literature reviews was to inform variable selection for the statistical analyses of patients' continuous abstinence and guitting patterns, and to assist the design of the case study for exploring elements of effective intervention. In summary, previous research in pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation programs indicates variations in intervention design as well as intervention outcomes measured by guit rates. The majority of the existing literature on predictors of successful tobacco abstinence focuses on patient characteristics. Seven domains of individual characteristics were identified from the literature review including pharmacotherapy use, level of nicotine dependence, health perceptions and comorbidities, psychological factors (e.g. confidence to quit), previous attempts, social influences from family and friends, and demographic factors (e.g. age, gender). Patient characteristics from intake questionnaire, if related to these factors, were included in the survival analysis as well as the pattern analysis. Findings about elements of effective tobacco cessation interventions from the two UK studies (e.g. type of pharmacy, format of counseling, frequency and intensity of intervention) were incorporated into developing survey questions for the case study with the pharmacists.
Chapter 3 Methods

This study was a retrospective and longitudinal cohort of the patients participated in the NMPCF tobacco cessation program with data collected over 7 years. The study consisted of four parts, including quit rates calculation, survival analysis, pattern analysis, and case study with participating pharmacists. Point prevalence quit rates and patients' continuous abstinence analyzed by survival analysis were intended to evaluate the effectiveness of the tobacco cessation program. The case study was adopted to explore variation in quit rates across pharmacies and constituents of an effective intervention. The pattern analysis was aimed to investigate the potentially existing quitting patterns among patients. The study methods, results, and discussion were organized around these four essential parts of the study.

<u>Data source</u>

The data was from a pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation program led by New Mexico Pharmaceutical Care Foundation (NMPCF). NMPCF initiated the program in 2004 and offered it every year until 2011 when the program ended due to suspension of funding by New Mexico Department of Health. By 2011, 23 pharmacy stores across New Mexico had participated in the program for at least 1 year and 1486 smokers had received the service. Patients were either selfreferred, or approached and invited to participate the program by pharmacists. The program provided patients with pharmacotherapy up to the value of \$137.50 and/or free counseling sessions with pharmacists. No financial compensation was given to patients for their participation. Participating pharmacists were reimbursed for providing the service and the program received funding from New Mexico Tobacco Use Prevention and Control Program (TUPAC). Intake and follow-up questionnaires developed by TUPAC were adopted and administered by pharmacists. The intake questionnaire was administered to each patient at recruitment to obtain baseline information on tobacco use, previous guit attempts, working and home environment, confidence to quit, importance to quit, and other demographic characteristics. Three follow-ups at 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months were scheduled to follow up with patients' tobacco use status. The follow-ups were either conducted face-to-face in pharmacy or via telephone. Participants who responded to at least one of the 4 questionnaires (1 intake and 3 follow-ups) were included for analysis.

Quit rates

For each follow-up, an overall point prevalence quit rate as well as point prevalence quit rates by year and by pharmacy store were calculated. The question "do you currently use tobacco products?" was used to determine participants' tobacco use status. This question only measured patients' tobacco use status at the moment of the follow-up. "Intention to treat" was adopted for calculating quit rates. Specifically, missing at follow-ups was assumed to be failures and included in the quit rate calculation.

<u>Survival Analysis</u>

In addition to calculating point prevalence quit rates, Kaplan-Meier survival curves were used to present the probability of a participant remaining continuously abstinent over time until the final follow-up. Cox proportional hazard model was used as the multivariate analysis to assess what patient characteristics were associated with relapse. The question "have you used tobacco even once since your quit date?" was asked at each follow-up and it was used to determine patients' continuous abstinence status. At the 3 months and 6 months follow-up, a question "how long did you remain quit" was asked if patients reported that they had used tobacco since quit date. Together with the intake and follow-up dates, these two questions were used to determine how long a participant remained abstinent after their quit date. Figure 1 demonstrates how the time of abstinence was assigned to each individual.



Quitting patterns and transitions

One of the primary goals of the study was to characterize patients with quitting patterns. We defined 4 distinctive quitting patterns, which made quitting pattern a polytomous outcome. Therefore, multinomial logistic regression model was used to identify patients' characteristics for each guitting pattern. Patients were categorized in two ways. In both categorizations, we only considered patients' abstinent status at the point of follow-up, determined by the question "do you" currently use tobacco?" Missing at any follow-up was considered as failure to quit. Patients were first categorized into 4 groups: immediate quitters (IQ), delayed quitters (DQ), once quitters (OQ), and never quitters (NQ). IQ were those who achieved initial abstinence immediately at 1 month and remained abstinent at the other two follow-ups. DQ were those who did not successfully quit using tobacco at 1 month or both 1 month and 3 months, but eventually succeeded at 6 months. The term OQ was used to characterize those who quit smoking at 1 month or 3 months, but did not achieve final success at 6 months. NQ were those who failed to be abstinent at any of the 3 follow-ups. The patients were also categorized by their transition of tobacco use behaviors. Their transitions could be classified as no transition, forward transition, backward transition, or fluctuation. Staying abstinence or using tobacco across 3 follow-ups was defined as no transition. Moving from smoking to abstinence only once during 3 follow-ups was forward transition while the opposite was backward transition. Transiting between abstinence and smoking twice was considered as fluctuation (Figure 2).



Figure 2 Categorization of Patients Based on Quitting Pattern and Transition

From our literature review, we did not find any studies that assessed the relationships between quitting patterns and smokers' characteristics. Nevertheless, there has been abundant literature discussing predictors of successful quitters. The defined quitting patterns could be seen as a further categorization of successfully quitters and non-quitters. Those who succeeded at 6 months were further classified as IQ and DQ, whereas those who failed in the end were categorized into OQ and NQ. Therefore, the literature on predictors of successful quitters should be, to some extent, relevant to patients' quitting patterns. We decided to fit the predictors of successful quitters identified from the literature into our multinomial logistic regression model of quitting patterns.

Elements of an effective tobacco cessation program

In order to understand what makes an effective tobacco cessation program and how a program impacts patients' quitting behaviors, we conducted a case study with pharmacists who participated in providing the program. Pharmacists who provided the tobacco cessation service to at least 25 patients were contacted and invited to participate in a 20 minutes interview. The interview was administered face-to-face or over phone by one of the investigators. All the responses were collected anonymously.

As suggested by the literature, settings where interventions are delivered are associated with intervention effectiveness. Therefore, we asked 3 questions regarding the size and type of the pharmacy. The rest of the questions were related to the service, containing 3 dimensions with respective focus on following up with patients, counseling, and pharmacists' perception about the program. We integrated aspects of contents, duration, frequency, and format into the questions about follow-ups and counseling. Four questions about pharmacists' perceptions of the tobacco cessation service they provided in the end of the survey (Appendix B). Pharmacists' responses were summarized and assessed in a qualitative manner. We were particularly interested in the reasons why some pharmacists were more successful than others and how their practice differed.

Data cleaning and re-categorization

Often, the follow-ups did not take place exactly at 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months. We set a time range that we believed was plausible for each follow-up. Dates of follow-ups outside the time range were considered erroneous and were changed to missing. For 1 month follow-up, a visit occurred between 10 days to 90 days after intake was believed to be reasonable. The range for 3 months and 6 months follow-up were set as 30-270 days and 60-540 days, respectively. When patients' response to their continuous abstinence status ("have you used tobacco even once since your quit date?") at later follow-ups contradicted with their response at earlier follow-ups, we assumed the earlier response to be more accurate and used it to calculate length of abstinence.

We re-categorized age, education, number of cigarettes consumed per day, tobacco use in the past 30 days, pharmacotherapy use, importance to quit, confidence to quit, and number of class sessions attended based on percentile distribution. Both confidence to quit and importance to quit were measured on a scale of 1 to 5 with 5 being the most confident/important. Confidence to quit was divided into score less than 3, equal to 3, equal to 4, and equal to 5. Importance to quit was divided into score equal to 3 or less, equal to 4, and equal to 5. Age was categorized into less than 18 years, 18 to 34 years, 35 to 44 years, 45 to 54 years, 55 to 64 years, and 65 years or older. Education was re-classified as eighth grade or less, some high school or high school, some college or above. Tobacco use in the past 30 days consisted of 3 groups: "only cigarettes",

"cigarettes, bidis, chew/dip", and "other combinations". Use of pharmacotherapy was classified as none, only NRT, only varenicline, and other combinations. Number of class sessions attended was classified into one session, two sessions, and three sessions or more. We incorporated questions about whether a patient attempted to guit in the past year and how long the patient remained guit at that attempt into one variable, namely "quit attempt in the past year". It consisted of 5 groups: "didn't try at all", "tried and stayed guit for 1 week or less", "tried and stayed guit for 1 week-1 month", "tried and stayed guit for 1 month-6 months", and "tried and stayed guit for more than 6 months". For the rest of the variables, we kept the original categorization from the intake questionnaire. Whether used alternative method to guit, and gender were binary. Workplace ban of smoking had 3 options: "yes", "no", and "I don't work". Home ban of smoking contained 4 groups, which were "yes, anywhere", "only in certain rooms & outdoors", "only outdoors", and "no, not allowed at all". Presence of other tobacco users in the household had 3 groups including "no other tobacco users", "someone smokes", and "someone uses smokeless tobacco". A likert scale was used to measure patients' satisfaction about the program including options "very satisfied", "satisfied", "somewhat satisfied", and "not satisfied".

Although Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence (FTND) was not given to patients, the baseline questionnaire adopted two questions from FTND. One was "how many cigarettes/day do you smoke?", and the other one was "how soon after you wake up do you smoke your first cigarette?". Number of cigarettes per

day was divided into 4 groups: half pack per day or less, half pack to 1 pack, 1 pack to 1.5 packs, and more than 1.5 packs. Time to first use of tobacco after waking also had 4 groups including "within 5 minutes", "6-30 minutes", "31-60 minutes", and "after 60 minutes". A modified FTND was created using these 2 pieces of information, with possible scores ranging from 0 to 6. The same scoring scheme from FTND was used and the 2 individual item scores were summed up to obtain a total modified FTND score for each patient in the sample. Patients were grouped based on their modified FTND score (groups: score 0-2, score 3, score 4, and score 5-6). Higher score indicated higher nicotine dependence.

Statistical analyses

Statistical analyses performed are summarized in Table 2. An alpha level of 0.05 was adopted for all the statistical analyses in this study. SAS 9.2 was used to conduct all the statistical analyses.

1) Quit rates

Chi-square tests were used to compare the quit rates by year and by pharmacy store.

2) Survival analysis

Kaplan Meier survival function is provided below. To apply it to our case, it is a product of the proportion of patients who remain quit at $t_1, t_2, ..., t_i$, where n_i is the number of people at risk of relapse (excluding those who were already censored or relapsed) just prior to t_i and d_i is the number of people who relapse during t_i and t_{i+1} . Patients who stayed quit throughout the program period were censored. Their length of continuous abstinence was defined as the duration between the day of the last follow-up and the day of intake. We also censored those who were lost to follow-up but did not relapse during the period when they were under observation. Log rank test was used for univariate analysis to compare abstinence experience between patients with different baseline characteristics.

$$\hat{S}(t) = \prod_{t_i < t} \frac{n_i - d_i}{n_i}.$$

	Table 2	Statistical	Tests	Performed
--	---------	-------------	-------	-----------

Objective/analysis	Univariate statistical tests	Multivariate statistical tests	Multivariate model building
Compare quit rates across pharmacies and years	Chi-square test	NA	NA
Survival analysis	Log-rank test	Cox proportional hazard model	1) Enter any variable with p-
Pattern analysis	Multinomial logistic regression	Multinomial logistic regression	value<0.05 in the univariate analysis; 2)Backward elimination using LR test

Variables with p-value less than 0.05 from log-rank test were included in the Cox proportional hazard model. The hazard function is also provided. It measures the hazard of relapsing at time t given a specified set of patient characteristics X. Hazard ratio (HR), which compares the hazard of relapse between two groups with different characteristics, is calculated by dividing the hazard of one group by the other. However, the assumption of proportionality needs to be met in order for Cox proportional hazard model to yield unbiased estimates of HR. The model assumes that the relative hazard of one group relapsing compared to another group needs to be constant over time, otherwise the estimated HR would be biased. A hazard rate that is increasing over time tends to overestimate the impact of the independent variable, whereas a hazard rate that is decreasing over time tends to bias the HR to zero.⁹⁶

h(t)=h₀(t) exp($\beta_1 x_1 + \beta_2 x_2 + ... + \beta_i x_i$) Hazard Ratio= h(t)_p/h(t)_q

Use of pharmacotherapy, tobacco use, number of cigarettes consumed per day, time to first use of tobacco after waking, quit attempt in the past year and duration of abstinence, confidence to quit, importance to quit, home ban of smoking, presence of other smokers in household, workplace ban of smoking, age, gender, and education were considered as potential factors that could impact patients' abstinence and were included in the analyses.

3) Quitting patterns

Multinomial logistic regression was performed as both univariate and multivariate analysis for characterizing quitting patterns. Based on the findings from the literature review on predictors of successful quitting, baseline characteristics obtained from the intake questionnaire including use of pharmacotherapy, quit attempt in the past year and duration of abstinence, confidence to quit, importance to quit, home ban of smoking, presence of other smokers in household, workplace ban of smoking, age, gender, and education were examined in the multinomial logistic regression model. The modified FTND score was also included. Although tobacco use was not identified as a predictor of successful quitting in the existing literature, we believed that it might also be related to one's risk of relapse and quitting pattern and decided to include it in the analyses.

All the variables were examined separately in univariate analysis first. Any variable with a global p value less than 0.05 was included in multivariate analysis. Backward elimination strategy was adopted for multivariate analysis. Variables that were not significant were tested individually in descending order of p value for their importance to the model. The likelihood ratio (LR) test was used to compare the full model (with the

variable being tested) and the reduced model (without the variable being tested). If LR test was significant, it meant that the variable was important in terms of explaining the variation in quitting patterns observed among patients. Therefore, the decision to keep a variable in the model was made based on whether the LR test was significant. Information on income, ban of smoking at workplace, alternative method to quit, number of class sessions attended, and satisfaction about the program were only collected for year 2004-2007. In order to maintain more sample size and therefore statistical power, we decided not to include these four variables in the multivariate analysis.

Informed consent

The existing database was already de-identified. The pharmacists who participated in the interview were consented. The study was approved by the Human Research Protection Office at the University of New Mexico.

Chapter 4 Results

After excluding patients who failed to respond to any of the four interviews, 1486 patients were included for analysis. Table 3 shows the baseline characteristics of the study sample. About 90% of them were between 18 to 64 years old at the time of recruitment. There were fewer male patients than female patients (44.5%) vs. 55.5%), among whom 15 (2%) of them were pregnant at baseline. The majority of them were white (70.6%). Almost 47% had at least some college education and 63.7% of them reported they did not have health insurance. Regarding tobacco use in the past 30 days, except that 53.7% of the patients only smoked cigarettes, a large proportion of them (37.4%) reported using cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips (all three of them). Among those who smoked cigarettes, more than 20% of them consumed more than 1 pack of cigarettes per day. From the reimbursement invoices obtained from NMPCF, we found that 18.9% of the patients attempted to quit without aid of pharmacotherapy, 41.5% only used NRT, and 34.5% only used varenicline. The patients seemed to have a high level of nicotine dependence with 44.3% of them reporting having their first cigarette within 5 minutes after wake up. Almost 20% of the patients had a modified FTND score of 5 or 6, indicating a relatively high level of nicotine dependence. More than 70% of the patients had tried to quit in the preceding year. Nearly half of them reported no workplace ban of tobacco use and 46.3% of them were allowed to smoke anywhere at home. A little more than half of the patients did not have anyone else who was tobacco user in their household at the time of baseline interview. Most the patients indicated the importance for

them to quit (81.3% scored 5 on the scale), but almost half of the patients' reported their confidence to quit was 3 or less on a scale of 5. More than 70% of the patients reported that they had attempted to quit in the past year. For the years in which use of alternative methods to quit, number of sessions attended, and participants' satisfaction were collected, 80.7% patients did not use any alternative method to help themselves to quit, the majority attended at least one session or class, and more than half of them were very satisfied with the service at 1 month.

 Table 3 Characteristics of Included Participants from NMPCF Tobacco Cessation Program

Characteristics	N (%)
Age	
<18 years	49 (3.6%)
18-34 years	312 (22.6%)
35-44 years	295 (21.4%)
45-54 years	374 (27.1%)
55-64 years	263 (19.0%)
>=65 years	89 (6.4%)
Gender	
Male	606 (44.5%)
Female	755 (55.5%)
Pregnant	15 (2%)
Ethnicity	
White	961 (70.6%)
Hispanic	324 (23.8%)
Other	77 (5.6%)
Education level	
Eighth grade or less	58 (4.3%)
Some high school or high school	652 (48.7%)
Some college or college or college above	628 (46.9%)
Annual household income*	
Less than \$10,000	81 (18.0%)
\$10,000\$19,999	90 (20.0%)
\$20,000\$49,999	212 (47.0%)
\$50,000—\$74,999	46 (10.2%)
\$75,000 or more	22 (4.9%)
Health insurance	
Yes	454 (36.3%)
No	797 (63.7%)
Use tobacco everyday	
Yes	1325 (96.4%)
No	50 (3.6%)

Table 3 cont.

Characteristics	N (%)
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30 days	
Only cigarettes	741 (53.7%)
Only one type of tobacco (not cigarettes)	25 (1.8%)
Cigarettes and pipes	21 (1.5%)
Cigarettes and chew/dips	27 (2.0%)
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	516 (37.4%)
Cigarettes, pipes, and bidis	21 (1.5%)
Other combinations	29(2.1%)
# of cigarettes consumed per day	
<=half pack	338 (27.1%)
>half pack, but <=1 pack	631 (50.5%)
>1 pack, but <=1.5 packs	185 (14.8%)
>1.5 packs	95 (7.6%)
Time to first use of tobacco after wake up	
Within 5 minutes	606 (44.3%)
6 to 30 minutes	473 (34.6%)
31-60 minutes	188 (13.7%)
After 60 minutes	102 (7.5%)
Modified Fagerstrom score (maximum possible=6)	
0-2	339 (27.4%)
3	358 (28.9%)
4	347 (28.1%)
5-6	193 (15.6%)
Pharmacotherapy used	
None	256 (18.9%)
Only NRT	561 (41.5%)
Only varenicline	467 (34.5%)
Only bupropion	38 (2.8%)
NRT and bupropion	26 (1.9%)
Other combinations	5 (0.4%)
Ban of tobacco use at workplace/school*	
Yes	295 (29.7%)
No	496 (49.9%)
I don't know	30 (3.0%)
I don't work	173 (17.4%)

Table 3 cont.

Characteristics	N (%)
Quit attempt in the past year	
Didn't try at all	366 (28.4%)
Tried and stayed quit for <=1 week	100 (7.8%)
Tried and stayed quit for >1 week, but<= 1	378 (29.3%)
month	
Tried and stayed quit for > 1 month, but <=6 months	203 (15.8%)
Tried and stayed quit for > 6 months	242 (18.8%)
Allowing smoking at home	
Yes, anywhere	633 (46.3%)
Only in certain rooms & outdoors	175 (12.8%)
Outdoors only	389 (28.4%)
No, not allowed at all	171 (12.5%)
Others use tobacco in the household	
Yes, someone who smokes	586 (42.9%)
Yes, someone who uses smokeless tobacco	36 (2.6%)
No	744 (54.5%)
Confidence to quit (scale 1-5)	
<3	223 (16.3%)
3	357 (26.0%)
4	367 (26.8%)
5	425 (31.0%)
Importance to quit (scale 1-5)	
<=3	53 (5.5%)
4	181 (13.1%)
5	1120 (81.3%)
Used alternate method (eg. acupuncture)*	
Yes	113 (19.3%)
No	472 (80.7%)
# of sessions attended*	
0	53 (9.5%)
1	275 (49.5%)
2	100(18.0%)
>=3	128(23.0%)

Table 3 cont.

Characteristics	N (%)
Satisfaction about the program at 1 month*	
Not at all satisfied	4 (0.7%)
Somewhat satisfied	40 (7.0%)
Satisfied	205 (35.9%)
Very satisfied	322 (56.4%)

*information only collected from 2004 to 2007

<u>Quit rates</u>

The overall point prevalence quit rate was 30.2%, 20.3%, and 18.7% at 1 month, 3 months, and 6 months, respectively. Point prevalence quit rates by year and by pharmacy were calculated and presented in Figures 3 and 4. The chi-square tests showed that the quit rates were significantly different both across years and across pharmacies at all three follow-ups (p<0.0001). Year 2009 had the highest 6-month quit rate (28.5%). Year 2004 and 2010 achieved a 6-month quit rate greater than 20%. The quit rate varied more dramatically by pharmacy with pharmacy 8 having the highest 6-month quit rate of 59.4%.





*Only pharmacies with n≥25 are displayed; mo: month(s)

<u>Survival analysis</u>

Among the 1486 patients included in the survival analysis, 684 of them were censored. The majority of them (branch 54, n=456) were censored at the beginning of observation and we assigned zero day to them as their time of abstinence (Table 4). The rest (802 patients) relapsed during observation. The probability of a patient being continuously abstinent for 7 days was 89.1%, while the likelihood of being abstinent for 30 days and 180 days was 46.0% and 16.5%, respectively. A dramatic decrease in probability of remaining quit occurred in the first two weeks, dropping to 77.3%. The mean abstinent time of the study sample was 76.81 days (standard error= 3.59 days). This mean time is likely to be an underestimate due to the fact that a large number of patients were censored. The Kaplan-Meier survival curve of the study sample is displayed in Figure 5.

Branch	Inference of t	t	N (%)
USETOB	USETOB1M=fail		
1	LQUIT3M not missing, d1 not missing	Min(LQUIT3M, d1)	105 (7.1%)
2	LQUIT3M not missing, d1 missing	Min(LQUIT3M, 90)	92 (6.2%)
3	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d1 not missing	Min(LQUIT6M, d1)	16 (1.1%)
4	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d1 missing	Min(LQUIT6M, 90)	16 (1.1%)
5	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M missing, d1 not missing	d1/2	155 (10.4%)
6	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M missing, d1 missing	15 days	201 (13.5%)
USETOB	1M=quit, USETOB3M=failed		75 (5.0%)
7	LQUIT3M not missing, d1>=LQUIT3M	d1	9 (0.6%)
8	LQUIT3M not missing, d1 <lquit3m, d2="" missing<="" not="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT3M, d2)</td><td>36 (2.4%)</td></lquit3m,>	Min(LQUIT3M, d2)	36 (2.4%)
9	LQUIT3M not missing, d1 <lquit3m, d2="" missing<="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT3M, 270)</td><td>2 (0.1%)</td></lquit3m,>	Min(LQUIT3M, 270)	2 (0.1%)
10	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d1>=LQUIT6M	d1	2 (0.1%)
11	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d1 <lquit6m, d2="" missing<="" not="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, d2)</td><td>2 (0.1%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, d2)	2 (0.1%)
12	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d1 <lquit6m, d2="" missing<="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, 270)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, 270)	0 (0.0%)
13	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M missing, d2 not missing	d2/2	0 (0.0%)
14	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M missing, d2 missing	45 days	24 (1.6%)
USETOB	1M=quit, USETOB3M=quit, USETOB6M=failed		14 (0.9%)
15	LQUIT6M not missing, d2>=LQUIT6M	d2	0 (0.0%)
16	LQUIT6M not missing, d2 <lquit6m, d3="" missing<="" not="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, d3)</td><td>5 (0.3%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, d3)	5 (0.3%)
17	LQUIT6M not missing, d2 <lquit6m, d3="" missing<="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, 540)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, 540)	0 (0.0%)
18	LQUIT6M missing, d3 not missing	d3/2	9 (0.6%)
19	LQUIT6M missing, d3 missing	90 days	0 (0.0%)
USETOB	1M=quit, USETOB3M=quit, USETOB6M=quit (censored)		70 (4.7%)
20	d3 not missing	d3	61 (4.1%)
21	d3 missing	180 days	9 (0.6%)
USETOB1M=quit, USETOB3M=quit, USETOB6M=missing (censored)			38 (2.6%)
22	d2 not missing	d2	35 (2.4%)
23	d2 missing	90 days	3 (0.2%)
USETOB1M=quit, USETOB3M=missing, USETOB6M=failed			14 (0.9%)
24	LQUIT6M not missing, d1>=LQUIT6M	d1	2 (0.1%)
25	LQUIT6M not missing, d1 <lquit6m, d3="" missing<="" not="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, d3)</td><td>5 (0.3%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, d3)	5 (0.3%)
26	LQUIT6M not missing, d1 <lquit6m, d3="" missing<="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, 540)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, 540)	0 (0.0%)
27	LQUIT6M missing, d3 not missing	d3/2	6 (0.4%)
28	LQUIT6M missing, d3 missing	90 days	1 (0.1%)

Table 4 Assignment of Time of Abstinence

USETOB1M=quit, USETOB3M=missing, USETOB6M=quit (censored)			10 (0.7%)
29	d3 not missing	d3	9 (0.6%)
30	d3 missing	180 days	1 (0.1%)
USETOB1M=quit, USETOB3M=missing, USETOB6M=missing (censored)			
31	d1 not missing	d1	22 (1.5%)
32	d1 missing	30 days	56 (3.8%)
USETOB	1M=missing, USETOB3M=failed		73 (4.9%)
33	LQUIT3M not missing, d2 not missing	Min(LQUIT3M, d2)	37 (2.5%)
34	LQUIT3M not missing, d2 missing	Min(LQUIT3M, 270)	9 (0.6%)
35	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d2 not missing	Min(LQUIT6M, d2)	4 (0.3%)
36	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M not missing, d2 missing	Min(LQUIT6M,270)	0 (0.0%)
37	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M missing, d2 not missing	d2/2	13 (0.9%)
38	LQUIT3M missing, LQUIT6M missing, d2 missing	45 days	10 (0.7%)
USETOB	1M=missing, USETOB3M=quit, USETOB6M=failed		5 (0.4%)
39	LQUIT6M not missing, d2>=LQUIT6M	d2	0 (0.0%)
40	LQUIT6M not missing, d2 <lquit6m, d3="" missing<="" not="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, d3)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, d3)	0 (0.0%)
41	LQUIT6M not missing, d2 <lquit6m, d3="" missing<="" td=""><td>Min(LQUIT6M, 540)</td><td>0 (0.0%)</td></lquit6m,>	Min(LQUIT6M, 540)	0 (0.0%)
42	LQUIT6M missing, d3 not missing	d3/2	4 (0.3%)
43	LQUIT6M missing, d3 missing	90 days	1 (0.1%)
USETOB1M=missing, USETOB3M=quit, USETOB6M=quit (censored)			
44	d3 not missing	d3	4 (0.3%)
45	d3 missing	180 days	0 (0.0%)
USETOB	1M=missing, USETOB3M=quit, USETOB6M=missing (censored)		12 (0.8%)
46	d2 not missing	d2	9 (0.6%)
47	d2 missing	90 days	3 (0.2%)
USETOB1M=missing, USETOB3M=missing, USETOB6M=failed			36 (2.4%)
48	LQUIT6M not missing, d3 not missing	Min(LQUIT6M, d3)	18 (1.2%)
49	LQUIT6M not missing, d3 missing	Min(LQUIT6M, 540)	10(0.7%)
50	LQUIT6M missing, d3 not missing	d3/2	6 (0.4%)
51	LQUIT6M missing, d3 missing	90 days	2 (0.1%)
USETOB1M=missing, USETOB3M=missing, USETOB6M=quit (censored)			16 (1.0%)
52	d3 not missing	d3	11 (0.7%)
53	d3 missing	180 days	5 (0.3%)
USETOB1M=missing, USETOB3M=missing, USETOB6M=missing (censored)			456 (30.7%)
54	All	0 day	456 (30.7%)

*USETOB: ever used tobacco since quit date; LQUIT: reported time of abstinence, d: duration between follow-ups and intake; Min: minimum

Figure 5 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve----All Patients (n=1486)



Log rank test was performed to determine patient characteristics that influenced patients' probability of remaining quit and their abstinence experience. Except income, work environment, alternative method used to guit, class sessions attended, and satisfaction about the program, all the other baseline characteristics listed in table 1 were analyzed individually. The results of log rank tests are presented in Table 5. Age, pharmacotherapy, and tobacco use in the past 30 days were found to be significantly associated with patients' likelihood of remaining continuously abstinent. Patients under 18 years old had a better chance of keeping themselves from using tobacco again compared to all the other age groups (Figure 6). The p-value for the log rank test was 0.03. Their likelihood of staying abstinent for 120 days was 32.4%. Figure 7 shows the survival curve for each pharmacotherapy group. Log rank test indicated that the quitting experiences by pharmacotherapy groups were significantly different (p=0.02). Patients who only used varenicline had the best quitting experience in the whole time. Their likelihood of quitting continuously for 120 days was 22.9%. Patients who only used NRT had higher likelihood of remaining guit than those who did not use pharmacotherapy and those who tried several types of pharmacotherapy in the first 4 months. Patients who only used NRT had a probability of 18.3% to be continuously abstinence for 120 days and the probability for 180 days was 14.7%. The likelihood of continuous abstinence for the first 30 days was similar among patients with different tobacco use patterns with a rate around 40%. Starting from 30 days, patients who used cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dip in the past 30 days had better quitting experience than

others. Their probability of remaining quit at day 120 was 21.4%, whereas the probability for those who only smoked cigarettes in the past month was 16.6% (Figure 8).

Variable	p-value of log-rank test
Age	0.03
Gender	0.83
Ethnicity	0.69
Education level	0.06
Health plan coverage	0.08
Use tobacco everyday	0.14
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30 days	0.03
# of cigarettes per day	0.27
Time to first use of tobacco after wake up	0.36
Pharmacotherapy used	0.02
Quit attempt in the past year	0.06
Allowing smoking at home	0.59
Presence of other tobacco user in the household	0.88
Confidence to quit	0.41
Importance to quit	0.19

Table 5 Kaplan-Meier Survival Analysis---Results of Log Rank Tests

Figure 6 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve by Age Group (n=1382)



Figure 7 Kaplan-Meier Survival Curve by Pharmacotherapy (n=1353)






When we entered the covariates that were significant in the Kaplan-Meier survival analysis into the Cox proportional hazard model, we found that the HRs for the covariates were dependent on time. Since the assumption of proportionality was violated, we decided not to use the Cox proportional hazard model and kept the analysis in the univariate level. For the sake of demonstrating the violation, we presented the results of Cox proportional hazard model in Table 6 and Table 7. The interactions between time of abstinence and age group, tobacco use in the past 30 days, and pharmacotherapy used were significant (Table 7). The coefficients of the interactions were negative, which indicated that the hazard rate decreased over time. Also, the overall test of proportionality was also significant with a p-value less than 0.0001. This indicated the dependence of hazard ratios on time. When excluding the interactions with time of abstinence, the hazard ratios were biased toward the null, which was exactly as Menard et al described ⁹⁶ (Table 6). Due to the violation of the assumption of proportionality, the HR estimates in Table 6 were biased and should not be used.

Table 6 Multivariate A	nalysisResults of Cox P	Proportional Hazard Model (excludir	ng
interactions with time)		

Independent variable	Hazard ratio	p-value
Age		
<18 years	0.59	0.02
18-34 years	referent	
35-44 years	1.07	0.58
45-54 years	1.06	0.58
55-64 years	1.02	0.89
>=65 years	1.04	0.83
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30		
days		
Only cigarettes	1.03	0.86
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	0.94	0.65
Other	referent	
Pharmacotherapy used		
None	referent	
Only NRT	0.98	0.88
Only varenicline	0.84	0.13
Other	1.06	0.76

*The hazard ratios in Table 6 are biased and should not be used.

Independent variable	coefficient	Hazard ratio	p-value
Age			
<18 years	2.41	11.16	0.002
18-34 years	referent		
35-44 years	2.01	7.44	
45-54 years	2.02	7.54	<0.0001
55-64 years	1.99	7.29	<0.0001
>=65 years	2.30	9.94	<0.0001
<18 years*log(t)	-0.75	0.47	0.0003
35-44 years*log(t)	-0.57	0.57	<0.0001
45-54 years*log(t)	-0.60	0.55	<0.0001
55-64 years*log(t)	-0.54	0.58	<0.0001
>=65 years*log(t)	-0.71	0.49	<0.0001
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30 days			
Other	referent		
Only cigarettes	11.52	101004.20	<0.0001
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	11.10	66027.93	<0.0001
Only cigarettes*log(t)	-3.11	0.04	<0.0001
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips*log(t)	-3.00	0.05	<0.0001
Pharmacotherapy used			
None	referent		
Only NRT	4.13	61.91	<0.0001
Only varenicline	4.58	97.13	<0.0001
Other	0.73	2.08	0.11
Only NRT*log(t)	-1.32	0.27	<0.0001
Only varenicline*log(t)	-1.46	0.23	<0.0001
Other*log(t)	-0.22	0.80	0.14

 Table 7 Multivariate Analysis----Results of Cox Proportional Hazard Model (including interactions with time)

Quitting pattern analysis

Based on our definition of quitting patterns, the study sample consisted of 162 (10.9%) immediate quitters, 112 (7.8%) delayed quitters, 312 (21%) once quitters, and 896 (60.3%) never quitters. As for their transitions of tobacco use behaviors during the program period, 89 (6.0%) moved forward from using tobacco to abstinence, 259 (17.4%) had a backward transition, 80 (5.4%) patients' abstinence status fluctuated, and 1058 (71.2%) patients had the same status, staying quit or using tobacco, at all three follow-ups (Table 8).

Table 8 Quitting Patterns and Transitions of Included	Participants from NMPCF Tobac	:0
Cessation Program		

Quitting patterns	
Immediate quitters	162 (10.9%)
Delayed quitters	116 (7.81%)
Once quitters	312 (21.00%)
Never quitters	896 (60.30%)
Quitting transitions	
Forward transition	89 (5.99%)
Backward transition	259 (17.43%)
Fluctuation	80 (5.38%)
No transition	1058 (71.20%)
Patterns & transitions	
Immediate quitters, no transition	162 (10.90%)
Delayed quitters, forward transition	89 (5.99%)
Delayed quitters, fluctuation	27 (1.82%)
Once quitters, fluctuation	53 (3.57%)
Once quitters, backward transition	259 (17.43%)
Never quitters, no transition	896 (60.30%)

The results of the univariate multinomial logistic regressions are presented in Table 9. Compared to patients with age between 18 to 34, patient under 18 years old were 5.27 time more likely to be IQ and 3.21 times more likely to be OQ. Males were 1.65 times more likely to be DQ than females. Hispanics were more likely to be IQ compared to others (OR=1.68, 95% CI:1.15-2.45). Education was inversely related to one's probability of quitting. Patients who used tobacco everyday were less likely to be DQ and OQ compared to non-daily tobacco users. Patients who used cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dip in the past 30 days were more likely to quit than those who only smoked cigarettes. Patients with a modified FTND score of 4, indicating greater nicotine dependence, were less likely to be DQ than those with a score between 0 to 2 (OR=0.50, 95% CI: 0.27-0.93). Compared with those guitting without aid of pharmacotherapy, patients who only used NRT were more likely to be OQ and patients who only used varenicline were more likely to be IQ and OQ. It was unexpected that patients who attempted to quit in the past year were less likely to be successful at the current attempt than those who did not make attempt to guit in the past year. Ban of tobacco use at work (referent: ban; OR=2.33, 95% CI: 1.37-3.95) and home ban of smoking (referent: no ban; OR=0.41, 95% CI: 0.21-0.79) decreased the probability of quitting immediately. Confidence to quit was associated the likelihood of being IQ. Using alternative method to quit and attending more class sessions also helped patients quit. The less the patients were satisfied with the program, the less likely they were IQ and OQ.

	Immediate quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never guitters
Age			
<18 years	5.27 (2.42, 11.42)	1.91 (0.51, 7.18)	2.31 (1.06, 5.03)
18-34 years	1	1	1
35-44 years	0.65 (0.38, 1.11)	1.23 (0.65, 2.32)	0.79 (0.53, 1.17)
45-54 years	0.88 (0.54, 1.41)	1.13 (0.61, 2.09)	0.83 (0.57, 1.20)
55-64 years	0.64 (0.37, 1.12)	1.49 (0.80, 2.80)	0.72 (0.47, 1.09)
>=65 years	0.65 (0.29, 1.47)	1.34 (0.56, 3.22)	0.70 (0.38, 1.29)
Gender			
Female	1	1	1
Male	0.97 (0.69, 1.37)	1.65 (1.09, 2.49)	0.88 (0.67, 1.16)
Ethnicity			
White	1	1	1
Hispanic	1.68 (1.15, 2.45)	1.37 (0.85, 2.20)	1.23 (0.89, 1.70)
Other	0.97 (0.43, 2.22)	1.88 (0.88, 4.03)	1.33 (0.75, 2.36)
Education level			
Eighth grade or less	2.95 (1.40, 6.20)	2.47 (1.01, 6.07)	1.87 (0.96, 3.64)
Some high school or high school	1	1	1
Some college or college or college above	1.07 (0.75, 1.53)	0.98 (0.64, 1.50)	0.80 (0.60, 1.06)
Health insurance			
No	1	1	1
Yes	0.96 (0.67, 1.39)	1.14 (0.74, 1.75)	1.08 (0.81, 1.45)
Use tobacco every day			
No	1	1	1
yes	1.33 (0.39, 4.50)	0.32 (0.14, 0.74)	0.38 (0.20, 0.73)
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30 days			
Only cigarettes	1	1	1
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	2.36 (1.64, 3.40)	3.00 (1.94, 4.63)	2.22 (1.66, 2.96)
Other	1.97 (1.09, 3.56)	1.96 (0.94, 4.11)	1.81 (1.12, 2.91)
Modified Fagerstrom score			
0-2 low dependence	1	1	1
3	0.80 (0.51, 1.28)	0.92 (0.54, 1.56)	0.75 (0.51, 1.10)
4	0.67 (0.42, 1.09)	0.50 (0.27, 0.93)	0.89 (0.61, 1.29)
5-6	0.58 (0.32, 1.05)	0.52 (0.25, 1.06)	0.68 (0.43, 1.07)

 Table 9 Univariate Analysis---Characteristics of Immediate Quitters, Delayed Quitters, and

 Once Quitters compared to Never Quitters

Table 9 Cont.

	Immediate quitters vs. Never quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never quitters
Quit attempt in the past year		•	
Didn't try at all	1	1	1
Tried and stayed quit for <=1 week	0.29 (0.12, 0.71)	0.62 (0.25, 1.55)	0.83 (0.48, 1.44)
Tried and stayed quit for >1 week, but<= 1 month	0.56 (0.36, 0.87)	1.04 (0.62, 1.76)	0.70 (0.48, 1.02)
Tried and stayed quit for > 1 month, but <=6 months	0.61 (0.36, 1.03)	0.95 (0.50, 1.80)	0.84 (0.54, 1.30)
Tried and stayed quit for > 6 months	0.40 (0.23, 0.70)	0.62 (0.32, 1.22)	0.91 (0.61, 1.37)
Ban of tobacco use at workplace/school			
Yes	1	1	1
No	2.33 (1.37, 3.95)	1.05 (0.55, 1.98)	1.33 (0.91, 1.94)
I don't work	1.64 (0.83, 3.25)	1.13 (0.50, 2.56)	1.44 (0.90, 2.33)
Allowing smoking at home			
Yes, anywhere	1	1	1
Only in certain rooms & outdoors	0.34 (0.17, 0.68)	1.04 (0.56, 1.94)	0.70 (0.46, 1.09)
Outdoors only	0.81 (0.55, 1.19)	1.02 (0.63, 1.67)	0.77 (0.55, 1.06)
No, not allowed at all	0.41 (0.21, 0.79)	1.27 (0.70, 2.30)	0.78 (0.51, 1.20)
Presence of other tobacco users in the household			
Yes, someone who smokes	1	1	1
Yes, someone who uses smokeless tobacco	0.85 (0.29, 2.50)	1.38 (0.46, 4.16)	0.10 (0.01, 0.74)
No	1.18 (0.83, 1.68)	1.34 (0.87, 2.05)	0.92 (0.70, 1.21)
Confidence to quit (scale 1-5)			
<3 low	1	1	1
3	2.41 (1.33, 4.37)	0.75 (0.40, 1.42)	1.03 (0.69, 1.54)
4	3.19 (1.78, 5.71)	1.25 (0.70, 2.23)	1.44 (0.98, 2.12)
5	3.62 (2.04, 6.43)	2.19 (1.30, 3.71)	2.09 (1.45, 3.01)
Importance to quit (scale 1-5)			
<=3 low	1	1	1
4	1.59 (0.80, 3.16)	0.66 (0.28, 1.54)	0.50 (0.29, 0.87)
5	1.33 (0.75, 2.36)	1.09 (0.60, 1.97)	0.87 (0.60, 1.26)

Table	9	Cont.
-------	---	-------

	Immediate quitters vs. Never quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never quitters
Used alternate method (eg. acupuncture)*			
No	1	1	1
Yes	4.44 (2.54, 7.79)	2.00 (0.87, 4.62)	1.68 (0.99, 2.88)
# of sessions attended*			
0	1	1	1
1	1.62 (0.58, 4.55)	1.70 (0.55, 5.28)	1.82 (0.93, 3.55)
2	2.31 (0.78, 6.89)	0.91 (0.24, 3.52)	1.10 (0.51, 2.38)
>=3	6.89 (2.43, 19.52)	1.08 (0.28, 4.18)	1.57 (0.73, 3.38)
Satisfaction about the program at 1 month*			
Very satisfied	1	1	1
Satisfied	0.23 (0.13, 0.39)	0.66 (0.33, 1.31)	0.31 (0.20, 0.48)
Somewhat satisfied	0.03 (0.004, 0.25)	0.51 (0.16, 1.62)	0.10 (0.04, 0.26)
Not at all satisfied	0.34 (0.03, 3.31)		

Other than ethnicity, income, health plan coverage, work ban of tobacco use, whether using alternative methods to quit, class sessions attended, and satisfaction about the program, all the other characteristics were entered into the multivariate model. We first built a model without including pharmacy store as an independent variable and the results of the model are presented in Table 10.

Controlling for all the other variables in the model, age was statistically associated with quitting pattern. Compared to patients who were 18-34 years old, patients under 18 were more likely to be IQ (OR=5.71, 95% CI: 1.84-17.69), while patients with an age between 45 and 54 years (OR=0.58, 95% CI: 0.36-0.93) or between 55 to 64 years (OR=0.58, 95% CI: 0.34-0.98) were less likely to be OQ. Patients with an education level of eighth grade or less were more likely to be IQ and OQ than those who had high school education. Patients who used cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips in the past 30 days were more likely to be OQ compared to cigarettes smokers (OR=1.93, 95% CI: 1.31-2.85). Nicotine dependence was significantly associated with one's likelihood of being IQ. Compared to those who scored 0-2 on the modified FTND, patients who had a score of 4 were more likely to be IQ and DQ. Pharmacotherapy only helped to a certain extent. Patients who used NRT (OR=2.27, 95% CI: 1.36-3.80) or varenicline (OR=2.41, 95% CI: 1.42-4.10) were more likely to be OQ than those who did not use any form of pharmacotherapy. Home ban of smoking was still inversely related to the likelihood of successful quitting after adjustment for other variables. Patients with higher confidence were more likely to quit, while patients

reported greater importance to quit were less likely to be successful. Although gender, education level, whether using tobacco daily, time to first use of tobacco upon wake up, quit attempt in the past year, and presence of other tobacco users in the household were not significantly associated with quitting pattern, they played important roles in the model. The LR test was significant for each of them. Therefore, we decided to keep all of them in the model. The R square of the model was 0.20.

 Table 10 Multivariate Analysis---Characteristics of Immediate Quitters, Delayed Quitters, and Once Quitters compared to Never Quitters (pharmacy stores excluded)

	Immediate quitters vs. Never quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never quitters
Age			
<18 years	5.71 (1.84, 17.69)	2.46 (0.44, 13.89)	2.75 (0.95, 7.96)
18-34 years	1	1	1
35-44 years	0.63 (0.32, 1.21)	1.62 (0.74, 3.51)	0.75 (0.46, 1.21)
45-54 years	1.15 (0.64, 2.07)	1.88 (0.90, 3.94)	0.58 (0.36, 0.93)
55-64 years	0.52 (0.25, 1.08)	2.01 (0.93, 4.33)	0.58 (0.34, 0.98)
>=65 years	0.45 (0.15, 1.37)	1.05 (0.30, 3.63)	0.45 (0.20, 1.01)
Gender			
Female	1	1	1
Male	0.85 (0.54, 1.32)	1.58 (0.97, 2.58)	0.87 (0.62, 1.23)
Education level			
Eighth grade or less	4.47 (1.56, 12.84)	1.61 (0.47, 5.52)	2.61 (1.11, 6.14)
Some high school or high school	1	1	1
Some college or college or college above	1.25 (0.79, 2.00)	0.93 (0.56, 1.55)	0.87 (0.61, 1.23)
Use tobacco every day			
No	1	1	1
Yes	0.71 (0.14, 3.46)	0.35 (0.11, 1.13)	0.48 (0.19, 1.24)
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30 days			
Only cigarettes	1	1	1
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	1.45 (0.87, 2.42)	2.02 (1.17, 3.50)	1.93 (1.31, 2.85)
Other	0.74 (0.28, 1.95)	1.14 (0.39, 3.33)	1.64 (0.84, 3.20)
Modified fagerstrom score			
0-2 low dependence	1	1	1
3	0.64 (0.37, 1.11)	0.79 (0.43, 1.44)	0.68 (0.44, 1.06)
4	0.49 (0.27, 0.89)	0.43 (0.21, 0.87)	0.80 (0.51, 1.26)
5-6	0.64 (0.32, 1.28)	0.54 (0.24, 1.19)	0.74 (0.43, 1.29)
Pharmacotherapy used			
None	1	1	1
Only NRT	0.77 (0.41, 1.45)	1.57 (0.76, 3.23)	2.27 (1.36, 3.80)
Only varenicline	1.73 (0.94, 3.18)	1.46 (0.68, 3.10)	2.41 (1.42, 4.10)
Other	1.55 (0.58, 4.13)	1.39 (0.40, 4.84)	1.59 (0.61, 4.15)

Table 10 Cont.

	Immediate quitters vs. Never quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never quitters
Quit attempt in the past year			
Didn't try at all	1	1	1
Tried and stayed quit for <=1 week	0.35 (0.11, 1.11)	0.89 (0.30, 2.67)	1.44 (0.72, 2.86)
Tried and stayed quit for >1 week, but<= 1 month	0.84 (0.48, 1.47)	1.29 (0.68, 2.42)	0.76 (0.47, 1.20)
Tried and stayed quit for > 1 month, but <=6 months	1.03 (0.52, 2.04)	1.04 (0.47, 2.29)	1.24 (0.73, 2.12)
Tried and stayed quit for > 6 months	0.54 (0.26, 1.10)	0.68 (0.30, 1.52)	1.27 (0.77, 2.08)
Allowing smoking at home			
Yes, anywhere	1	1	1
Only in certain rooms & outdoors	0.21 (0.09, 0.53)	0.92 (0.45, 1.87)	0.62 (0.37, 1.05)
Outdoors only	0.58 (0.35, 0.99)	0.66 (0.36, 1.22)	0.54 (0.35, 0.83)
No, not allowed at all	0.28 (0.12, 0.66)	0.60 (0.26, 1.38)	0.58 (0.33, 1.02)
Presence of other tobacco users in the household			
Yes, someone who smokes	1	1	1
Yes, someone who uses smokeless tobacco	2.18 (0.61, 7.78)	2.08 (0.52, 8.30)	0.20 (0.03, 1.64)
No	1.39 (0.88, 2.20)	1.11 (0.66, 1.85)	1.16 (0.82, 1.65)
Confidence to quit (scale 1-5)			
<3 low	1	1	1
3	2.06 (0.94, 4.55)	0.92 (0.40, 2.13)	0.98 (0.56, 1.72)
4	2.68 (1.22, 5.89)	1.51 (0.68, 3.34)	1.60 (0.92, 2.77)
5	3.03 (1.36, 6.77)	1.99 (0.92, 4.33)	1.79 (1.04, 3.09)
Importance to quit (scale 1-5)			
<=3 low	1	1	1
4	0.54 (0.21, 1.39)	0.83 (0.20, 3.52)	0.31 (0.13, 0.73)
5	0.35 (0.15, 0.82)	1.00 (0.28, 3.60)	0.48 (0.24, 0.96)

The variation in guit rates across pharmacies might partly due to differences in patients recruited at each site. In order to rule out patient selection as an explanation for the varying guit rate among pharmacies, we built another multivariate multinomial logistic regression model to examine whether the effect of pharmacy on the probability of quitting would persist after controlling for patient characteristics. Pharmacies that provided the service to less than 25 patients were excluded from the analysis, namely pharmacy 4, 6, 11, 12, 14, and 18-23. Pharmacy 5, 7, and 15 were further excluded due to its extremely low quit rates. Low quit rates made the number of IQ and DQ very small, which would invalidate statistical analysis. The results of the model are presented in Table 11. Using pharmacy 1 as the reference, pharmacy 8 was more successful in terms of having more IQ, DQ, and OQ and pharmacy 2 and 16 were less successful. Patients from pharmacy 8 were 18.25 times more likely to be IQ than patients from pharmacy 1. After adding pharmacy into the model, R square increased to 0.36, meaning that pharmacy together with other variables in the model explained 36% of the variance in guitting patterns among patients. Quit attempts in the past year and presence of household smokers became significant, but confidence and importance to quit, pharmacotherapy use, modified FTND score were no longer significant. Adding pharmacy did not change the overall effects of age, education level, tobacco use in the past 30 days, and home ban of smoking.

	Immediate quitters vs. Never quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never quitters
Pharmacy store	•	•	•
1	1	1	1
2	0.15 (0.04, 0.52)	0.17 (0.06, 0.46)	0.37 (0.20, 0.69)
3	2.47 (0.78, 7.84)	0.17 (0.02, 1.42)	0.51 (0.15, 1.69)
8	20.45 (8.70, 48.06)	9.40 (3.74, 23.62)	2.22 (1.03, 4.76)
9	0.26 (0.03, 2.35)	0.49 (0.09, 2.53)	0.94 (0.26, 3.37)
13		1.26 (0.12, 13.30)	0.97 (0.19, 4.95)
16	0.23 (0.07, 0.77)	0.06 (0.01, 0.46)	0.19 (0.08, 0.44)
Age			
<18 years	7.04 (1.01, 49.3)	4.12 (0.40, 42.51)	7.01 (1.18, 41.59)
18-34 years	1	1	1
35-44 years	0.38 (0.17, 0.84)	1.25 (0.54, 2.88)	0.64 (0.37, 1.11)
45-54 years	1.09 (0.55, 2.19)	1.96 (0.88, 4.37)	0.60 (0.34, 1.06)
55-64 years	0.51 (0.22, 1.20)	1.95 (0.81, 4.68)	0.57 (0.30, 1.08)
>=65 years	0.84 (0.22, 3.15)	1.92 (0.48, 7.75)	0.47 (0.18, 1.24)
Gender			
Female	1	1	1
Male	0.93 (0.55, 1.60)	1.67 (0.96, 2.92)	0.86 (0.57, 1.29)
Education level			
Eighth grade or less	3.95 (0.92, 17.00)	2.05 (0.43, 9.73)	3.55 (1.21, 10.42)
Some high school or high school	1	1	1
Some college or college or college above	1.67 (0.94, 2.97)	1.51 (0.84, 2.70)	0.95 (0.62, 1.46)
Use tobacco every day			
No	1	1	1
Yes	0.90 (0.16, 5.05)	0.42 (0.12, 1.48)	0.46 (0.17, 1.28)
Tobacco use pattern in the past 30 days			
Only cigarettes	1	1	1
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	1.74 (0.89, 3.40)	1.91 (0.995, 3.68)	2.54 (1.56, 4.14)
Other	0.84 (0.28, 2.55)	0.87 (0.27, 2.83)	2.08 (0.97, 4.46)
Modified fagerstrom			
score			
0-2 low dependence	1	1	1
3	1.20 (0.62, 2.33)	1.18 (0.60, 2.31)	0.93 (0.55, 1.58)
4	0.67 (0.33, 1.37)	0.53 (0.25, 1.14)	0.94 (0.55, 1.60)
5-6	0.97 (0.41, 2.31)	0.66 (0.26, 1.69)	0.90 (0.46, 1.76)

 Table 11 Multivariate Analysis---Characteristics of Immediate Quitters, Delayed Quitters, and Once Quitters compared to Never Quitters (pharmacy stores included)

Table 11 Cont.

	Immediate quitters vs. Never quitters	Delayed quitters vs. Never quitters	Once quitters vs. Never quitters
Pharmacotherapy used	•	•	•
None	1	1	1
Only NRT	1.52 (0.59, 3.88)	2.39 (0.90, 6.30)	1.71 (0.82, 3.57)
Only varenicline	1.97 (0.82, 4.74)	1.62 (0.62, 4.21)	1.83 (0.88, 3.81)
Other	2.23 (0.64, 7.74)	1.39 (0.33, 5.87)	0.98 (0.29, 3.36)
Quit attempt in the past year			
Didn't try at all	1	1	1
Tried and stayed quit for <=1 week	0.60 (0.15, 2.47)	1.58 (0.44, 5.62)	1.81 (0.72, 4.57)
Tried and stayed quit for >1 week, but<= 1 month	1.62 (0.81, 3.23)	2.09 (0.99, 4.42)	1.09 (0.62, 1.89)
Tried and stayed quit for > 1 month, but <=6 months	1.82 (0.77, 4.31)	1.45 (0.57, 3.71)	1.99 (1.05, 3.76)
Tried and stayed quit for > 6 months	1.59 (0.66, 3.84)	1.58 (0.62, 4.01)	1.99 (1.05, 3.75)
Allowing smoking at home			
Yes, anywhere	1	1	1
Only in certain rooms & outdoors	0.20 (0.07, 0.56)	0.93 (0.41, 2.12)	0.67 (0.36, 1.23)
Outdoors only	1.10 (0.55, 2.17)	0.88 (0.43, 1.81)	0.43 (0.26, 0.73)
No, not allowed at all	0.70 (0.25, 1.96)	0.94 (0.36, 2.48)	0.66 (0.33, 1.32)
Presence of other tobacco users in the household			
Yes, someone who smokes	1	1	1
Yes, someone who uses smokeless tobacco	5.03 (1.07, 23.65)	3.87 (0.73, 20.59)	0.33 (0.03, 3.50)
No	1.46 (0.83, 2.55)	1.05 (0.59, 1.87)	1.31 (0.85, 2.00)
Confidence to quit (scale 1-5)			
<3 low	1	1	1
3	1.68 (0.63, 4.53)	0.86 (0.31, 2.40)	0.96 (0.47, 1.95)
4	1.51 (0.55, 4.12)	1.11 (0.41, 2.99)	1.29 (0.65, 2.59)
5	1.47 (0.53, 4.07)	1.29 (0.50, 3.37)	1.14 (0.57, 2.29)
Importance to quit (scale 1-5)			
<=3 low	1	1	1
4	0.90 (0.28, 2.83)	1.13 (0.24, 5.41)	0.44 (0.16, 1.19)
5	1.08 (0.38, 3.11)	2.49 (0.61, 10.18)	0.84 (0.35, 2.02)

Due to missing information of baseline characteristics from some patients, only 1007 patients were included in the first multivariate model. Since the loss was 32% of the overall sample, we compared the characteristics of the included and the excluded using chi-square test. The results of the comparison are presented in Table 12. Compared to the excluded, more included patients were middle-aged, and a greater proportion of them used tobacco every day, used tobacco cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dip in the past 30 days instead of only cigarettes, tried to quit in the past year, and scored higher on the scale of confidence/importance to quit.

Table 12 Comparison of Exc	uded Patients Due to	Missing Information with P	atients
Included in Multivariate Analy	/sis		

	Included	Excluded	Chi-square test: p-
	participants	participants	value
A	(N=1007)	(N=479)	0.02
Age			0.03
<18 years	34 (3.4%)	15 (4.0%)	
18-34 years	241 (23.9%)	71 (18.9%)	
35-44 years	227 (22.5%)	68 (18.1%)	
45-54 years	261 (25.9%)	113 (30.1%)	
55-64 years	188 (18.7%)	75 (20.0%)	
>=65 years	56 (5.6%)	33 (8.8%)	
Gender			0.96
Female	559 (55.5%)	196 (55.4%)	
Male	448 (44.5%)	158 (44.6%)	
Education level			0.15
Eighth grade or less	39 (3.9%)	19 (5.7%)	
Some high school or high school	503 (50.0%)	149 (45.0%)	
Some college or college	465 (46.2%)	163 (49.2%)	
Use tobacco every day			0.005
No	28 (2.8%)	22 (6.0%)	
Ves	979 (97 2%)	346 (94 0%)	
Tobacco use nattern in	010 (01.270)		<0.0001
the past 30 days			10.0001
Only cigarettes	542 (53.8%)	199 (53.4%)	
Cigarettes, pipes, and chew/dips	400 (39.7%)	116 (31.1%)	
Other	65 (6.5%)	58 (15.6%)	
Modified fagerstrom score			0.99
0-2 low dependence	275 (27.3%)	64 (27.8%)	
3	291 (28.9%)	67 (29.1%)	
4	282 (28.0%)	65 (28.3%)	
5-6	159 (15.8%)	34 (14.8%)	
Pharmacotherapy used			0.07
None	200 (19.9%)	56 (16.2%)	
Only NRT	397 (39.4%)	164 (47.4%)	
Only varenicline	357 (35.5%)	110 (31.8%)	
Other	53 (5.3%)	16 (4.6%)	

Table 12 Cont.

	Included participants (N=1007)	Excluded participants (N=479)	Chi-square test: p- value		
Quit attempt in the past			0.01		
year					
Didn't try at all	271 (26.9%)	95 (33.7%)			
Tried and stayed quit for <=1 week	74 (7.4%)	26 (9.2%)			
Tried and stayed quit for >1 week, but<= 1 month	318 (31.6%)	60 (21.3%)			
Tried and stayed quit for > 1 month, but <=6 months	156 (15.5%)	47 (16.7%)			
Tried and stayed quit for > 6 months	188 (18.7%)	54 (19.2%)			
Allowing smoking at home			0.09		
Yes, anywhere	456 (45.3%)	177 (49.0%)			
Only in certain rooms & outdoors	135 (13.4%)	40 (11.1%)			
Outdoors only	299 (29.7%)	90 (24.9%)			
No, not allowed at all	117 (11.6%)	54 (15.0%)			
Presence of other tobacco users in the household			0.26		
Yes, someone who smokes	441 (43.8%)	145 (40.4%)			
Yes, someone who uses smokeless tobacco	23 (2.3%)	13 (3.6%)			
No	543 (53.9%)	201 (56.0%)			
Confidence to quit (scale 1-5)			<0.0001		
<3	168 (16.7%)	169 (35.3%)			
3	264 (26.2%)	93 (19.4%)			
4	270 (26.8%)	97 (20.3%)			
5	305 (30.3%)	120 (25.1%)			
Importance to quit (scale 1-5)			<0.0001		
<=3	60 (6.0%)	125 (26.1%)			
4	127 (12.6%)	54 (11.3%)			
5	820 (81.4%)	300 (62.6%)			

Elements of an effective tobacco cessation intervention

A total of 11 pharmacists provided the service to 25 patients or more, therefore, were selected for the interview. We successfully interviewed 8 selected pharmacists including the pharmacist from pharmacy 8 who achieved a quit rate of 59.4%. Their responses to the interview questions are summarized in Table 13.

Pharmacists in Table 13 were listed in an ascending order of 6 months guit rate. A pattern of quit rate and intervention intensity could be identified. Pharmacists who followed up with patients more frequently and spent more time helping them achieved higher quit rates than others. Pharmacist 8 met with each group weekly in the first 3 months and then every 2 weeks for another 3 months. Most pharmacists reported that they had difficulties in following up with patients. The most frequently reported reason for loss to follow-up was patients' lack of success in quitting tobacco. One pharmacist pointed out that providing free pharmacotherapy would help keep patients in the program. Another pharmacist thought that the patients were not invested enough for them to be successful. Two pharmacists considered inability to provide the full 6-month free pharmacotherapy as a barrier for them to providing the service. Pharmacist 8 did not find following up patients difficult. He stressed that the key was to make sure at the beginning that patients were committed to guit and willing to take time to attend group meetings. Most pharmacists believed that commitment to life style changes rather than the tobacco cessation product was the most important determinant of patients' success. Pharmacist 8 reported care and

encouragement from peers in group as the main thing that helped patients quit. What he did was to put patients of comparable level into same group and have them work together.

All the pharmacists interviewed utilized or at least incorporated part of the TUPAC protocol into their counseling. Except the pharmacist from store 8, all the other pharmacists counseled patients individually and provided some sort of additional resources to patients such as the 1-800-quitline, behavioral modification sheet, and literature from American Cancer Society. Pharmacist 8 adopted group meetings as the format of counseling. In addition to counseling, he also referred patients to the 1-800-Quitline and had group members share their personal phone numbers for mutual support. Time constraints were the barrier reported most frequently by the pharmacists. Except pharmacist 8, all the other pharmacists unanimously agreed that pharmacists had more advantages in providing tobacco cessation services compared with other health professionals. They believed that they were better candidates because they were equipped with knowledge of medications, they were more accessible, and they understood patients' needs and life better than any other health professionals. Pharmacist 8 thought that any health professionals willing to take the time and effort would be a good candidate for providing tobacco cessation services, but he did consider the relative easy accessibility as an advantage on pharmacists' side.

RPh from Pharmacy # (6 mo quit rate)	Pharmacy type/# of prescriptions filled per day	Initial contact	Follow-ups	Difficulties in following up with patients/ reason of loss to follow up	Major thing that keeps patients quit	Major thing that prevents patients from quitting	Barriers for providing the service	RPh's advantages of proving TC service
P7 (1.1%)	Independent;400 prescriptions	45-min counseling in person	One 15 mins scheduled; two or three informal chats lasted around 5 mins	NA	Life-style changes	Uncommitted to quitting	Time constraints	Accessible; knowledge about medications, and patients' medical history and life
P5 (2.9%)	Chain;80-100 prescriptions	30 mins-1 hour counseling in person	1 mo, 3 mo, 6 mo f/u: 5-10 mins in person; phone call monthly	Difficult when having many patients at the same time; Reasons: time constraints, unsuccessful	Committed to quitting, regular communication with RPh	Lack of motivation, life stress	Time constraints	Knowledge of medication
P16 (6.7%)	Independent; 90 prescriptions	45 mins-1.5 hours counseling	1 mo and 6 mo 20 mins f/u: 80% via phone; additional 10 mins f/u with several patients	Difficult. Reasons: unsuccessful	Motivation; social support	Uncommitted to life-style changes, stress	Time constraints	Accessible; knowledge of medications; ability to communicate with patients
P2 (11.5%)	Clinical; 8 prescriptions	45 mins-1 hour counseling	At least three 5- 10 mins phone calls	Sometime difficult. Mobility of the population, unsuccessful	Readiness to quit	Uncommitted to behavioral modifications	Financial, patients not willing to pay out of pocket	Experienced in conveying this type of information to patients; understand patients' needs

Table 13 Summary of Pharmacists' Responses to the Interview Questions

Table 13 Cont.

RPh from	Pharmacy	Initial	Follow-ups	Difficulties in	Major thing	Major thing	Barriers	RPh's
Pharmacy	type/# of	contact	_	following up with	that keeps	that	for	advantages
# (6 mo	prescription			patients/ reason	patients	prevents	providing	of proving
quit rate)	s filled per			of loss to follow	quit	patients	the	TC service
	day			up		from quitting	service	
P1 (22.8%)	Chain;500 prescriptions	45 mins-1 hour counseling in person	Three 15 mins f/u via phone; Additional 15- 30 mins meeting with 15% patients	Difficult to have patients come in; Reasons: telephone disconnected, not taking phone calls	Understandi ng the addiction, how the therapy work, and its side effects	Program not financed to provide the full 6 month therapy	Couldn't provide free therapy; time constraints	Accessible; ability to identify smokers in pharmacy
P3 (29.6%)	Independent; 250 prescriptions	45 mins-1 hour counseling in person	Minimum of 4 times 40 mins in person f/u, mostly monthly	Not difficult. If patients miss an appointment, they are out of the program. Reasons: unmotivated, high nicotine dependence, side effects of therapy	Committed, communicati on with RPh	Social pressure, presence of other smokers	No barriers	Accessible; knowledge about medication
P8 (59.4%)	Long-term care; 37 prescriptions	30-40 mins counseling in person	1-3 mo: 30-60 mins group meeting every week; 4-6 mo: 40-45 mins group meeting every two weeks; After 6 mo: continue to meet monthly if patients want; All in person	Not difficult. The key is to make sure at the beginning that they are committed to quit. Encouragement from peers in the group also plays a role in keeping patients in the group.	Care and encouragem ent from peers in the group	Lack of confidence to quit	Time constraints	Accessible

P#: pharmacist from pharmacy #; RPh: pharmacist

In addition to the above findings, we identified a data collection issue that caused the low quit rate of pharmacy 7. During the conversation with the pharmacist from pharmacy 7, we found out that in majority he only followed up with patients once after the initial contact and the only follow-up could happen at 1 month, 3 months, or 6 months, which would cause missing data for two scheduled visits. Because we considered missing as failure when analyzing data, his guit rate was dramatically pulled down due to this issue. Not contacting patients is different than failure to follow up with them. Among the patients who were not contacted at the scheduled follow-up times, there must be a proportion of them who were actually abstinent, so the real quit rates of pharmacy 7 should be higher than what we calculated according to the data collected. There was a similar issue with pharmacy 3. This pharmacist met patients face to face for all follow-ups. He made a rule with patients that he would stop providing the service for them if they missed a single appointment with him. He stopped following up with the patients who broke the rule and then these patients were shown as missing for the later follow-ups in the data. This issue decreased the calculated guit rate for pharmacy 3.

Chapter 5 Discussion and conclusions

Although tobacco use has been recognized as a health hazard since last century, it remains a major public health concern in the United States. Tobacco use is one of the Healthy People 2020 topic areas retained from Healthy People 2010. Healthy People 2020 tobacco use objectives are organized in 3 key goals: reducing prevalence of tobacco use, implementing health care system changes, and enhancing social and environmental changes. New from Healthy People 2010, under health care system changes, two new objectives have been added to Healthy People 2020, specifically increasing tobacco screening in health care settings by 10 percent and increasing tobacco cessation counseling in health care setting by 10 percent.⁹⁷ Considering the attributable deaths to tobacco use were almost as many as the attributable deaths to the world's number two killer cerebrovascular diseases, reducing tobacco use has become an imperative task.⁹⁸ A pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation service in UK had a guit rate of 3.6% at 52 weeks. An economic evaluation of the service showed that it was cost-effective regardless of the relatively low guit rate.³⁴ The reported incremental cost per guality adjusted life years (QALY) for one to one pharmacist counseling is 2,600 euros, which is only one-tenth of the cost-effectiveness threshold set by National Institute for Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE).99

Discussion of study results

The study findings on the program effectiveness add information to the literature regarding community pharmacists' capacity of delivering tobacco cessation services. Comparing to the quit rates of previous pharmacists-assisted programs or programs led by other health professionals, the average quit rates achieved by the NMPCF program are not inferior regardless of the conservative calculation approach we took and the data collection issues. Pharmacy 8 achieved a 6-month point prevalence quit rate of 59.4%, which is rarely seen in the literature. The achieved quit rate by the program proves that pharmacists are capable of delivering effective tobacco cessation services.

Although there have been studies of pharmacists-assisted smoking cessation programs, the majority of them focused on demonstrating success rates in a cross-sectional manner. Our findings from the survival analysis present a longitudinal picture of patients' quitting experiences. The dramatic decrease in quit rate occurred in the first two weeks indicates a clinically critical window of relapse and the needs of enhancing intervention in early period of interventions. According to TTM, our results suggests that a large proportion of patients would experience a relapse from "action" stage back to "preparation" or even "contemplation" at the beginning of quitting, and timely support corresponding to this relapse is needed to help patients through this relapse.

Previous studies mainly focused on adults and rarely included adolescents as study subjects. We had 49 teenagers in the study sample. The results of log rank test showed that patients under 18 years old had a better quitting experience and were more likely to be abstinent continuously. It was within our expectation that patients only used NRT or only used varenicline had higher probability of being continuously guit over time compared to patients who guit without any pharmaceutical aid or those who tried several different products. The effectiveness of NRT and varenicline has been demonstrated by clinical trials and many observational studies. Although we had no data to explain why some patients kept changing products, we believed that switching products was an indicator of their lack of success in guitting tobacco. One pharmacist we interviewed pointed out that those patients who blamed products were usually uncommitted to behavioral modifications and unlikely to be successful. We did not find any study from the literature that assessed the relationship between type of tobacco and the risk of relapse. It has been argued that using smokeless tobacco is of less health hazard than cigarettes smoking because it does not expose tobacco users to toxic combustion gases and particles that are responsible for most tobacco induced diseases.^{100, 101} Patients who used multiple tobacco products might pay more attention to their health and might be more aware of the health harms of tobacco, therefore more committed to quitting tobacco use. Future studies are needed to verify our finding that patients who used cigarettes, pipes, chew/dips had a higher probability of being continuously quit than those who only smoked cigarettes.

As we stressed in the results, the estimates of hazard ratios from the Cox proportional hazard model presented in Table 6 were biased towards the null due to the violation of the assumption of proportionality. It is actually more realistic that the impact of age, pharmacotherapy, and tobacco use reduces over time considering quitting tobacco is a difficult task. Although our assignment of the time of continuous abstinence could influence the hazard ratios, we do not think it is the cause of the assumption violation because the same assignment schematic was consistently and systematically applied to all patients. We assumed that patients' early responses about their continuous abstinence were more reliable and accurate. We presumed that the period during which patients were continuously abstinent could not be longer that the duration between the intake day and the day they reported that they had used tobacco. We assumed that those who failed to respond to the question "Have you ever used tobacco once since your quit date" at any of the three follow-ups did not quit for even one day and assigned zero day as their time of continuous abstinence. All these three assumptions are fairly conservative and would only underestimate the time of continuous abstinence.

The goal of the pattern analysis was to characterize patients with different quitting patterns, therefore the results from the multivariate model without pharmacy stores included should be used for interpretation. Pharmacy store here is a proxy for the intervention patients received, which is inevitably related to

some patient characteristics such as pharmacotherapy used, importance to quit, and confidence to quit. Enhancing patients' confidence and perceived importance to quit is part of the counseling intervention. Pharmacies that successfully improved patients' confidence and importance to quit would be shown to have relatively more IQ, DQ, and OQ than others. Including pharmacy in the model, a portion of the variance explained by pharmacotherapy used and importance and confidence to quit would be shared by pharmacy and the ORs for these variables would be changed. The main purpose of building a second model with pharmacy included was to demonstrate that the variation in guit rates across pharmacies could not be fully explained by the difference in patients recruited. This point was proved by the results of the second model and verified through the interviews with participating pharmacists. In fact, pharmacy appeared to be the strongest predictor of patients' likelihood of achieving abstinence in terms of magnitude of ORs and consistency of statistical significance across comparisons from IQ to OQ. This confirmed our hypothesis that the tobacco cessation intervention patients receive also impacts their chance of successfully guitting tobacco.

The results of the pattern analysis showed the existence of different quitting patterns among tobacco users. Conceptualizing the findings with TTM, we could infer that participants were at different stages of quitting tobacco when recruited, spreading among "precontemplation", "contemplation" and "preparation". People who achieved immediate success (IQ) were possibly in "preparation" at recruitment and were ready to make a change. Those who were in

"precontemplation" or "contemplation" needed time and help from pharmacists before taking the action to guit, which makes them more likely to be delayed quitters and once quitters. Reviewing the results of the pattern analysis, it is also clear that patients with each quitting pattern have different characteristics. As proposed by health belief model, the likelihood of a tobacco user taking action to quit is determined by 3 factors, namely perceived benefits of quitting, perceived barriers of quitting, and perceived threat of not quitting. These 3 factors are in turn influenced by demographic factors, confidence and importance to quit, nicotine dependence, experiences of past quitting attempts, and availability of pharmacotherapy. More importantly, the results of the second model, with pharmacy being the strongest predictor of success, suggest that patients' perception of benefits and barriers of quitting and threats of continuing smoking can be changed by pharmacists' intervention. By changing patients' perceived benefits, barriers and threats, pharmacists helped patients move along the stages from "precontemplation", "contemplation", and "preparation" to "action" and get ready to guit.

In general, our findings in the predictors of quitting patterns fit health belief model well.¹⁰² For instance, patients with higher education are likely to have a deeper perception regarding the threats and health dangers of tobacco use, therefore are more likely to quit. Nevertheless, we have some results that cannot be understood intuitively and are discussed below. Although the existing literature cannot explain why the association between age under 18 and being IQ was still

present and strong after adjusting for level of nicotine dependence,

pharmacotherapy used, type of tobacco, confidence to guit and other patient characteristics, we believed that it was plausible. Adolescent smokers were more likely to respond to increased price of cigarettes. ¹⁰³ Income, an important factor that would affect adolescents' ability to purchase tobacco, was not included in the model due to substantial missing data for this variable. Our findings on home ban of smoking and importance to quit in the pattern analysis contradict with the existing literature, but we do not find them entirely implausible. Patients who were not allowed to smoke at home or only allowed to smoke in certain rooms were less likely to be IQ than those who were allowed to smoke anywhere at home. Social support is important for someone to be successful in guitting tobacco. Being able to smoke at home might be an indicator of harmonious domestic relationship and family support. Most of the pharmacists we interviewed stressed that personal commitment to quitting is the most important determinant of successful abstinence. Another potential explanation is that those patients are more determined to guit. Their decision to guit comes from themselves rather than family members. Importance to quit might not be necessarily related to how committed a patient is. The patients scored high importance might have health conditions that forced them to quit, but it does not mean that they were ready to quit. Unfortunately, we were unable to examine the effects of health related factors due to lack of such information.

We compared those who had missing data at 6 months follow-up with those who were followed up successfully by pharmacists and reported that they failed to quit in terms of baseline characteristics. We performed chi-square tests and found that they were similar in all the baseline characteristics except for pharmacotherapy (p < 0.0001) and home ban of smoking (p = 0.01). A greater proportion of the patients who were missing did not use any pharmacotherapy aid to help them quit compared to those who self-reported themselves being unsuccessful (21.9% vs. 9.6%). Also, a greater percentage of them were allowed to smoke anywhere at home (14.6% vs. 6.7%). When compared to patients who were abstinent at 6 months follow-up, the lost to follow-ups differed in many aspects, including age, education level, tobacco use in the past 30 days, guit attempts in the past year, confidence to quit, and number of cigarettes smoked per day. The similarity in patient characteristics between the lost to follow-ups and the ones who were self-reported being unsuccessful supports our assumption that lost to follow-ups were most likely to be continued tobacco users at the 3 scheduled follow-ups.

The interviews with pharmacists further demonstrated the importance of the tobacco cessation service. Although we could not perform statistical analyses on the pharmacists' responses due to the limited number of interviews conducted, a pattern between high quit rates and intensive interventions and frequent follow-ups can be inferred. Pharmacist 8 met with patients in groups as often as once a week in the first 3 months of the program. This finding is not only consistent with

the current literature, but also supports our point regarding the necessity of reinforcing treatment effects in early period of an intervention. Pharmacist 8 was the only one who adopted group meetings as the format of counseling among all the pharmacists interviewed. As the existing literature suggests, his success might also be related to the format of group counseling. In fact, pharmacist 8 considers group support and encouragement as the major factor that helps patients quit.

It is obvious that, to some extent, all the pharmacists delivered the service differently, with some of them providing more intensive interventions than others. However, they do share some common perceptions of tobacco cessation and the service they provided. Four of the seven pharmacists interviewed believe that behavioral modifications are the most important component of a tobacco cessation service and patients' commitment to the modifications largely determines whether they would be successful or not.

Even though tobacco cessation counseling with pharmacists is not covered by medical insurance yet and Healthy People 2020 does not specifically state increasing tobacco cessation counseling in pharmacy setting as an objective, pharmacists might actually be better candidates for delivering this kind of service compared to other health professionals. Apart from the fact that pharmacists are capable of delivering effective tobacco cessation services if given with right training, the pharmacists we interviewed unanimously responded that they were

the best choice for delivering the service. Quitting tobacco is a challenging task that takes time and requires social support. Having a health professional who understands the addiction and have an intimate knowledge of patients' medical history and life would help ease the task. Pharmacists seem to fit this description equally or better than any other health care providers.

<u>Study limitations</u>

Our study has several limitations. The major limitation is that nearly 50% missing on patients' smoking status occurred at all three follow-ups. We presume that the missing is mainly due to patients' lack of success and data collection problems. The majority of the pharmacists believed that loss to follow-up happened because the patient started to use tobacco again. The primary goal of the program was not for conducting research, therefore data collection was not a priority during the implementation of the program. There were two data collection issues. Pharmacist 3 and 7 did not follow up with patients as indicated by protocol, which contributed loss to follow-ups. Missing information on continuous abstinence status also caused 456 subjects being censored right at the beginning of the observation in the survival analysis. Although this censorship did not bias the results among patients who completed at least one follow-up, loss of statistical power could not be prevented. Missing on follow-up dates and length of continuous abstinence was also the reason that we had to make assumptions when assigning the time of abstinence, which is the second limitation of this paper. Even though we made the data assumptions carefully and conservatively, there is no way to test these assumptions. Lastly, the data was limited to what was on the intake questionnaire, so the multivariate pattern analysis did not include other potentially relevant variables such as general health and morbidities.
<u>Study strengths</u>

Despite the limitations, our study provides valuable information and has strengths over previous studies. Compared to the pharmacists-assisted tobacco cessation programs reported in the literature, our study sample, consisting of 1486 patients, is unprecedentedly large. Other than calculating point prevalence success rates, we also presented quit rates from a longitudinal perspective and used time to relapse as a unit of analysis instead of a "quit or not" dichotomous outcome. Despite of the importance of understanding quitting process, there have been very few studies that assessed guitting process or characterized guitting patterns emerged during guitting attempts. Our study is one of the few studies that assessed patients' guitting experience longitudinally. Additionally, observing and studying how patients' quitting-behaviors change during or after intervention would enable researchers to understand the process of quitting, identify critical windows during which smokers are most likely to relapse, and tailor interventions to patients' needs. Our study contributes to this body of knowledge by characterizing guitting patterns presented by the patients in the program, comparing patients with different patterns with respect to their characteristics, and identifying critical windows of relapse. Moreover, our findings in quitting patterns provide background knowledge for future studies to reveal the changes or events behind each pattern, which in turn, would further enhance our understanding of quitting process and enable individualized interventions. In addition, to our best knowledge, intra-program variation in effectiveness and the reasons behind the heterogeneous success rates in a same program have never

been explored before. Our findings would enhance the understanding of what makes an effective intervention and provide useful information for improving future interventions.

<u>Conclusions</u>

Pharmacists are capable of delivering tobacco cessation services. Patients' likelihood of quitting tobacco depends both on themselves and the intervention they receives. Intensive counseling and close follow-up are important elements of an effective tobacco cessation intervention. Most of the pharmacists that provided the program believe that commitment to behavioral modifications is the most important determinant of one's success in quitting tobacco.

Different quitting patterns exist among patients. For each pattern, the patients have distinctive characteristics in terms of level of nicotine dependence, pharmacotherapy used, motivational factors and demographic factors. Future research is needed to study quitting patterns more closely and to find out, apart from patient characteristics, the reasons for observing different quitting patterns among patients.

Appendices

- Appendix A Fagerstrom Test of Nicotine Dependence (FTND)
- Appendix B Interview Script

Appendix A

Fagerstrom Test of Nicotine Dependence (FTND)

1- How soon after you wake up do you smoke your first cigarette?

Within 5 minutes--3 6-30 minutes--2 31-60 minutes--1 after 60 minutes--0

2- Do you find it difficult to refrain from smoking in places where it is forbidden, e.g. at the mosque (church), at the bus?

Yes--1 No--0

3- Which cigarette would hate most to give up?

The first one in the morning--1 All others--0

- 4- How many cigarettes/day do you smoke?
- 31 or more—3 21-30--2 11-20--1 10 or less--0
- 5- Do you smoke more frequently during the first hours after waking than the rest of the day?

Yes--1 No--0

6- Do you smoke when you are so ill that you are in bed most of the day?

Yes--1 No—0

Appendix B Interview Script

Part I-Pharmacy

- 1. Type of pharmacy (independent, chain, or other?)
- 2. Including you, how many pharmacists are employed in this pharmacy?
- 3. On average, how many prescriptions does your pharmacy fill each day?

Part II-Pharmacist

- 1. Have you done smoking cessation counseling other than the NMPHA program?
- 2. Was there a packet you use or protocol you follow to help patients quit? Can you tell me what the packet/protocol contains?
- 3. About how many times did you follow up with each patient you manage in the course of the program?
- 4. Was there any contact outside of follow-up schedule?
- 5. How long did the initial contact and each follow-up last?

- 6. What approaches did you use to follow up with patients? (face-to-face follow-up, via telephone, or other)
- 7. Did you find it difficult to follow-up with patients? How did loss to follow-up happen (give top 3 reasons)?
- 8. What was the form of the counseling? (group based or individually?)

- 9. What kind of resources did you provide to patients?
- 10. What is the major thing that you think that helps keep patients quit?
- 11. What is the major thing that you think that prevents patients from quitting?

12. What were the barriers for you to providing the service?

- 13. Compared to other health professionals, do you think that pharmacists have more advantages for delivering tobacco cessation services? Can you tell me why?
- 14. Is there anything I have not mentioned that you would like to tell me? (e.g. important things you did in practice for helping patients quit)

References

 Department of Health and Human Services. The health consequences of smoking: a report of the Surgeon General. Atlanta, GA, U.S: Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Chronic Disease Prevention and Health Promotion, Office on Smoking and Health; 2004.
 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Annual smoking-attributable mortality, years of potential life lost, and productivity losses--United States, 1997--2001.

MMWR 2005:625-8.

3. Toll of tobacco in the United States of America.Campaign for Tobacco-Free Kids,

2010. (Ac cessed at http://www.tobaccofreekids.org/research/factsheets/pdf/0072.pdf.)

Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cigarette Smoking Among Adults -- United States, 2006. MMWR 2007:1157-61.

 Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Cigarette smoking among adults--United States, 2000. MMWR 2002:642-5.

6. Fu SS, Partin MR, Snyder A, et al. Promoting repeat tobacco dependence treatment: are relapsed smokers interested? Am J Manag Care 2006;12:235-43.

7. Pisinger C, Aadahl M, Toft U, Jorgensen T. Motives to quit smoking and reasons to relapse differ by socioeconomic status. Prev Med;52:48-52.

8. Yang T, Fisher KJ, Li F, Danaher BG. Attitudes to smoking cessation and triggers to relapse among Chinese male smokers. BMC Public Health 2006;6:65.

 Estabrooks PA, Gaglio B, Morse EF, Smith T, Edwards A, Glasgow RE. Defining and understanding success at smoking reduction: a mixed-methods study. Addict Behav;35:1113-9.

10. Tong VT, England LJ, Dietz PM, Asare LA. Smoking patterns and use of cessation interventions during pregnancy. Am J Prev Med 2008;35:327-33.

11. Solberg LI, Boyle RG, Davidson G, Magnan SJ, Carlson CL. Patient satisfaction and discussion of smoking cessation during clinical visits. Mayo Clin Proc 2001;76:138-

43.

12. Kreuter MW, Chheda SG, Bull FC. How does physician advice influence patient behavior? Evidence for a priming effect. Arch Fam Med 2000;9:426-33.

 Lancaster TSL. Self-help interventions for smoking cessation. The Cochrane Library 2009. 14. Fiore M, Jaén CR, et al. Treating Tobacco Use and Dependence: 2008 Update:

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services; 2008.

15. Aubin HJ, Karila L, Reynaud M. Pharmacotherapy for smoking cessation: present and future. Curr Pharm Des;17:1343-50.

16. Mahvan T, Namdar R, Voorhees K, Smith PC, Ackerman W. Clinical Inquiry: which smoking cessation interventions work best? J Fam Pract;60:430-1.

17. The state of health care quality 2007. Washington, D.C.: National Committee for Quality Assurance; 2007.

18. Thorndike AN, Regan S, Rigotti NA. The treatment of smoking by US physicians during ambulatory visits: 1994 2003. Am J Public Health 2007;97:1878-83.

19. Raupach T, Merker J, Hasenfuss G, Andreas S, Pipe A. Knowledge gaps about smoking cessation in hospitalized patients and their doctors. Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil;18:334-41.

20. Report to Congress: The Pharmacist Workforce: A Study of the Supply and Demand for Pharmacists. Washington, D.C.: Department of Health and Human Services, Bureau of Health Professions; 2000.

 Occupational and Professional Licensing. In: Regulation and Licensing Department - Board of Pharmacy A, NM, ed. 161926; 2004.

22. Hudmon KS, Prokhorov AV, Corelli RL. Tobacco cessation counseling:

pharmacists' opinions and practices. Patient Educ Couns 2006;61:152-60.

23. Margolis JA, Meshack AF, McAlister AL, Boye-Doe H, Simpson L, Hu S.

Smoking cessation activities by pharmacists in East Texas. J Am Pharm Assoc (Wash)

2002;42:508-9.

24. Rx for Change. (Accessed at http://rxforchange.ucsf.edu/.)

25. Williams DM. Preparing pharmacy students and pharmacists to provide tobacco cessation counselling. Drug Alcohol Rev 2009;28:533-40.

26. Sinclair HK, Bond CM, Stead LF. Community pharmacy personnel interventions for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004:CD003698.

27. Dent LA, Harris KJ, Noonan CW. Tobacco interventions delivered by pharmacists: a summary and systematic review. Pharmacotherapy 2007;27:1040-51.

28. Bauld LC, J.;Judge, K.;Pound, E.;Coleman, T. Impact of UK National Health Service smoking cessation services: variations in outcomes in England. Tob Control 2003;12:296-301. 29. Brose LSW, R.;McDermott, M. S.;Fidler, J. A.;Croghan, E.;McEwen, A. What makes for an effective stop-smoking service? Thorax;66:924-6.

30. Gonzales D, Jorenby DE, Brandon TH, Arteaga C, Lee TC. Immediate versus delayed quitting and rates of relapse among smokers treated successfully with varenicline, bupropion SR or placebo. Addiction;105:2002-13.

Cahill K, Lancaster T, Green N. Stage-based interventions for smoking cessation.
 Cochrane Database Syst Rev:CD004492.

32. Dent LA, Scott JG, Lewis E. Pharmacist-managed tobacco cessation program in
Veterans Health Administration community-based outpatient clinic. J Am Pharm Assoc
(2003) 2004;44:700 -14; quiz 14-5.

33. Zillich AJ, Ryan M, Adams A, Yeager B, Farris K. Effectiveness of a pharmacistbased smoking-cessation program and its impact on quality of life. Pharmacotherapy 2002;22:759-65.

34. Bauld L, Boyd KA, Briggs AH, et al. One-year outcomes and a cost-effectiveness analysis for smokers accessing group-based and pharmacy-led cessation services. Nicotine Tob Res;13:135-45.

35. Hajek P, Tonnesen P, Arteaga C, Russ C, Tonstad S. Varenicline in prevention of relapse to smoking: effect of quit pattern on response to extended treatment. Addiction 2009;104:1597-602.

36. Conklin CA, Perkins KA, Sheidow AJ, Jones BL, Levine MD, Marcus MD. The return to smoking: 1-year relapse trajectories among female smokers. Nicotine Tob Res 2005;7:533-40.

37. Ussher M, West R. Diurnal variations in first lapses to smoking for nicotine patch users. Hum Psychopharmacol 2003;18:345-9.

38. FDA 101: Smoking Cessation Products. (Accessed January 2 6, 2010, at

http://www.fda.gov/forconsumers/consumerupdates/ucm198176.htm.)

39. Boudrez HG, C.;Messig, M.;Metcalfe, M. Effectiveness of varenicline as an aid to smoking cessation: results of an inter-European observational study. Curr Med Res

Opin;27:769-75.

40. Cahill KS, L.;Lancaster, T. A preliminary benefit-risk assessment of varenicline in smoking cessation. Drug Saf 2009;32:119-35.

41. Hughes JS, L.;Lancaster, T. Antidepressants for smoking cessation. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 2004:CD000031.

42. West RZ, X. Is nicotine replacement therapy for smoking cessation effective in the "real world"? Findings from a prospective multinational cohort study. Thorax 2007;62:998-1002.

43. Tait RJH, G. K.; Waterreus, A.; Flicker, L.; Lautenschlager, N. T.; Jamrozik,

K.;Almeida, O. P. Effectiveness of a smoking cessation intervention in older adults. Addiction 2007;102:148-55.

Lam THA, A. S.;Chan, S. S.;Hedley, A. J. Adherence to nicotine replacement
therapy versus quitting smoking among Chinese smokers: a preliminary investigation.
Psychopharmacology (Berl) 2005;177:400 -8.

45. Biazzo LLF, D. B.;Harwell, T. S.;Beck, H. N.;Haugland, C.;Campbell, S.

L.;Helgerson, S. D. Characteristics and abstinence outcomes among tobacco quitline enrollees using varenicline or nicotine replacement therapy. Nicotine Tob Res;12:567-73.

46. Boutou AK, Tsiata EA, Pataka A, Kontou PK, Pitsiou GG, Argyropoulou P.

Smoking cessation in clinical practice: predictors of six-month continuous abstinence in

a sample of Greek smokers. Prim Care Respir J 2008;17:32-8.

47. Ebbert JO, Glover ED, Shinozaki E, Schroeder DR, Dale LC. Predictors of

smokeless tobacco abstinence. Am J Health Behav 2008;32:735-40.

48. Okuyemi KSA, J. S.;Ebersole-Robinson, M.;Catley, D.;Mayo, M. S.;Resnicow, K.
Does menthol attenuate the effect of bupropion among African American smokers?
Addiction 2003;98:1387-93.

49. Rovina N, Nikoloutsou I, Dima E, Michailidou M, Roussos C, Gratziou C.
Smoking cessation treatment in a real-life setting: the Greek experience. Ther Adv
Respir Dis 2007;1:93-104.

50. Heatherton TF, Kozlowski LT, Frecker RC, Fagerstrom KO. The Fagerstrom Test for Nicotine Dependence: a revision of the Fagerstrom Tolerance Questionnaire. Br J Addict 1991;86:1119-27.

51. Aubin HJ, Lebargy F, Berlin I, Bidaut-Mazel C, Chemali-Hudry J, Lagrue G.

Efficacy of bupropion and predictors of successful outcome in a sample of French smokers: a randomized placebo-controlled trial. Addiction 2004;99:1206-18.

52. Brandon THH, T. A.; Juliano, L. M.; Irvin, J. E.; Lazev, A. B.; Simmons, V. N.

Pretreatment task persistence predicts smoking cessation outcome. J Abnorm Psychol

2003;112:448-56.

53. Chatkin JMMdA, C.;Haggstram, F. M.;Wagner, M. B.;Fritscher, C. C. Abstinence rates and predictors of outcome for smoking cessation: do Brazilian smokers need special strategies? Addiction 2004;99:778-84.

54. Cosci FC, A.;Fornai, E.;Pistelli, F.;Paoletti, P.;Carrozzi, L. Nicotine dependence, psychological distress and personality traits as possible predictors of smoking cessation. Results of a double-blind study with nicotine patch. Addict Behav 2009;34:28-35.

55. Abdullah ASL, T. H.; Chan, S. K.; Leung, G. M.; Chi, I.; Ho, W. W.; Chan, S. S.

Effectiveness of a mobile smoking cessation service in reaching elderly smokers and predictors of quitting. BMC Geriatr 2008;8:25.

56. Broms US, K.;Lahelma, E.;Koskenvuo, M.;Kaprio, J. Smoking cessation by socioeconomic status and marital status: the contribution of smoking behavior and family background. Nicotine Tob Res 2004;6:447-55.

57. Picardi AB, S.;Morosini, P. Association between the engagement of relatives in a behavioural group intervention for smoking cessation and higher quit rates at 6-, 12- and 24-month follow-ups. Eur Addict Res 2002;8:109-17.

58. Rapp KB, G.;Weiland, S. K. Sleep duration and smoking cessation in student nurses. Addict Behav 2007;32:1505-10.

59. Swan GEJ, L. M.; Javitz, H. S.; McAfee, T.; McClure, J. B. Predictors of 12-month outcome in smokers who received bupropion sustained-release for smoking cessation. CNS Drugs 2008;22:239-56.

60. Yasin SMM, R.;Ming, M. F.;Koh, D. Predictors of smoking cessation among staff in public Universities in Klang Valley, Malaysia. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev;12:811-6.

61. Yu DKW, K. K.; Abdullah, A. S.; Chai, S. C.; Chai, S. B.; Chau, K. Y.; Jeong, A.

K.;Liu, C. Y.;Tam, W. K.;Yu, W. H.;Yam, H. K. Smoking cessation among Hong Kong

Chinese smokers attending hospital as outpatients: impact of doctors' advice, successful quitting and intention to quit. Asia Pac J Public Health 2004;16:115-20.

62. Luther EJB, K. S.; Franken, F. H.; Moolchan, E. T. Reasons for wanting to quit:

ethnic differences among cessation-seeking adolescent smokers. Ethn Dis 2006;16:739-

43.

63. Pisinger CA, M.;Toft, U.;Jorgensen, T. Motives to quit smoking and reasons to relapse differ by socioeconomic status. Prev Med;52:48-52.

64. Reime BR, P. A.;Seidenstucker, S.;Janssen, P. A.;Novak, P. Motives for smoking cessation are associated with stage of readiness to quit smoking and

sociodemographics among German industrial employees. Am J Health Promot 2006;20:259-66.

65. Chaaya MM-S, A.;El-Chemaly, S. Smoking patterns and predictors of smoking cessation in elderly populations in Lebanon. Int J Tuberc Lung Dis 2006;10:917-23.

66. Logan HLF, R. B.;Bartoshuk, L. M.;Sandow, P.;Tomar, S. L.;Werning, J.

W.;Mendenhall, W. M. Smoking status and pain level among head and neck cancer patients. J Pain;11:528-34.

67. Boudreaux EDB, B. M.;Camargo, C. A., Jr.;O'Hea, E.;Ziedonis, D. M. Changes in smoking associated with an acute health event: theoretical and practical implications. Ann Behav Med 2007;33:189-99.

68. Twardella DL, M.;Rothenbacher, D.;Stegmaier, C.;Ziegler, H.;Brenner, H. The diagnosis of a smoking-related disease is a prominent trigger for smoking cessation in a retrospective cohort study. J Clin Epidemiol 2006;59:82-9.

69. Swan GEJ, L. M.;Curry, S.;Chorost, M.;Javitz, H.;McAfee, T.;Dacey, S.

Bupropion SR and counseling for smoking cessation in actual practice: predictors of outcome. Nicotine Tob Res 2003;5:911-21.

Hitsman BB, B.;McChargue, D. E.;Spring, B.;Niaura, R. History of depression
and smoking cessation outcome: a meta-analysis. J Consult Clin Psychol 2003;71:65763.

71. Horn KD, G.;Kalsekar, I.;Massey, C. J.;Manzo-Tennant, K.;McGloin, T. Exploring the relationship between mental health and smoking cessation: a study of rural teens. Prev Sci 2004;5:113-26.

Dijkstra AW, G. T. Ongoing interpretations of accomplishments in smoking
cessation: positive and negative self-efficacy interpretations. Addict Behav 2005;30:21934.

73. Haug SM, C.;Ulbricht, S.;Schorr, G.;Ruge, J.;Rumpf, H. J.;John, U. Predictors and moderators of outcome in different brief interventions for smoking cessation in general medical practice. Patient Educ Couns;78:57-64.

74. Etter JF, Bergman MM, Humair JP, Perneger TV. Development and validation of a scale measuring self-efficacy of current and former smokers. Addiction 2000;95:901-

13.

75. Turner LRM, R.;Hitsman, B.;Warnecke, R. B. Social support as a moderator of the relationship between recent history of depression and smoking cessation among lower-educated women. Nicotine Tob Res 2008;10:201-12.

76. Segan CJB, R.;Greenwood, K. M. Can transtheoretical model measures predict relapse from the action stage of change among ex-smokers who quit after calling a quitline? Addict Behav 2006;31:414-28.

77. Zhu WHY, L.; Jiang, C. Q.; Deng, L. Z.; Lam, T. H.; Zhang, J. Y.; Chan, S. S.

Characteristics of smokers and predictors of quitting in a smoking cessation clinic in Guangzhou, China. J Public Health (Oxf);32:267 -76.

78. McVea KLM, D. L.;Creswell, J. W.;McEntarrfer, R.;Coleman, M. J. How

adolescents experience smoking cessation. Qual Health Res 2009;19:580-92.

79. Wee LHS, L.;Bulgiba, A.;West, R. Stop smoking clinics in Malaysia:

characteristics of attendees and predictors of success. Addict Behav;36:400-3.

80. Dijk FR, A.; de Nooijer, J.; de Vries, H. Smoking status and peer support as the main predictors of smoking cessation in adolescents from six European countries.

Nicotine Tob Res 2007;9 Suppl 3:S495-504.

81. Westmaas JLL, K. Unaided smoking cessation and predictors of failure to quit in a community sample: effects of gender. Addict Behav 2005;30:1405-24.

82. Ji MH, C. R.;Hovell, M.;Irvin, V.;Song, Y. J.;Lee, J.;Park, H.;Paik, H. Y. Smoking cessation patterns and predictors among adult Californians of Korean descent. Nicotine Tob Res 2005;7:59-69.

83. Yang TF, K. J.;Li, F.;Danaher, B. G. Attitudes to smoking cessation and triggers to relapse among Chinese male smokers. BMC Public Health 2006;6:65.

84. Sarna LB, S.; Wewers, M. E.; Froelicher, E. S.; Wells, M. J.; Kotlerman, J.; Elashoff,

D. Nurses trying to quit smoking using the Internet. Nurs Outlook 2009;57:246-56.

85. Franks MMP, A. M.;Wray, L. A. It takes two: marriage and smoking cessation in the middle years. J Aging Health 2002;14:336-54.

86. Hawk LW, Jr.;Higbee, C.;Hyland, A.;Alford, T.;O'Connor, R.;Cummings, K. M.

Concurrent quit & win and nicotine replacement therapy voucher giveaway programs:

participant characteristics and predictors of smoking abstinence. J Public Health Manag

Pract 2006;12:52-9.

87. Macy JTS, D. C.;Chassin, L.;Presson, C. C.;Sherman, S. J. Prospective predictors of long-term abstinence versus relapse among smokers who quit as young adults. Am J Public Health 2007;97:1470-5.

88. Fu SSB, D. J.;van Ryn, M.;Rhodes, K.;Widome, R.;Ricards, J. J.;Noorbaloochi,
S.;Clothier, B.;Su, J.;Joseph, A. M. Smoking-cessation strategies for American Indians:
should smoking-cessation treatment include a prescription for a complete home smoking
ban? Am J Prev Med;39:S56-65.

89. Hyland AH, C.; Travers, M. J.; Van Deusen, A.; Bansal-Travers, M.; King,

B.;Cummings, K. M. Smoke-free homes and smoking cessation and relapse in a longitudinal population of adults. Nicotine Tob Res 2009;11:614-8.

Polanska KH, W.;Sobala, W.;Lowe, J. B.;Jaakkola, J. J. Predictors of smoking
 relapse after delivery: prospective study in central Poland. Matern Child Health J;15:579 86.

91. Boyle RGS, L. I.;Asche, S. E.;Maciosek, M. V.;Boucher, J. L.;Pronk, N. P.
Proactive recruitment of health plan smokers into telephone counseling. Nicotine Tob
Res 2007;9:581-9.

92. Hyland AL, Q.;Bauer, J. E.;Giovino, G. A.;Steger, C.;Cummings, K. M. Predictors of cessation in a cohort of current and former smokers followed over 13 years. Nicotine Tob Res 2004;6 Suppl 3:S363-9.

93. Kauffman RMF, A. K.;Wee, A. G.;Shultz, J. M.;Kuun, P.;Wewers, M. E. Factors associated with smokeless tobacco cessation in an Appalachian population. Addict Behav 2008;33:821-30.

94. Nollen NLM, M. S.; Sanderson Cox, L.; Okuyemi, K. S.; Choi, W. S.; Kaur,

H.;Ahluwalia, J. S. Predictors of quitting among African American light smokers enrolled in a randomized, placebo-controlled trial. J Gen Intern Med 2006;21:590-5.

95. Aubin HJL, F.;Berlin, I.;Bidaut-Mazel, C.;Chemali-Hudry, J.;Lagrue, G. Efficacy of

bupropion and predictors of successful outcome in a sample of French smokers: a

randomized placebo-controlled trial. Addiction 2004;99:1206-18.

96. Handbook of Longitudinal Research: Design, Measurement, and Analysis. 1st ed; 2007.

97. Healthy People 2020 Objectives. (Accessed at

http://www.healthypeople.gov/2020/topicsobjectives2020/objectiveslist.aspx?topicId=41.)

98. WHO. 2008 World Health Statistics Report.

Appleby J, Devlin N, Parkin D. NICE's cost effectiveness threshold. BMJ
 2007;335:358-9.

100. Benowitz NL. Smokeless tobacco as a nicotine delivery device: harm or harm reduction? Clin Pharmacol Ther;90:491-3.

101. Phillips CV, Heavner KK. Smokeless tobacco: the epidemiology and politics of harm. Biomarkers 2009;14 Suppl 1:79-84.

102. Webb TL, Sniehotta FF, Michie S. Using theories of behaviour change to inform interventions for addictive behaviours. Addiction;105:1879-92.

103. Grossman M, Chaloupka FJ. Cigarette taxes. The straw to break the camel's

back. Public Health Rep 1997;112:290-7.